

# Multimodal Narratives in Research and Teaching Practices

J. Bernardino Lopes (Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal), Maria Clara Viegas (Politécnico do Porto, Portugal) and José Alexandre Pinto (Politécnico do Porto, Portugal) Copyright: © 2019 Pages: 418 ISBN13: 9781522585701 | ISBN10: 1522585702 | EISBN13: 9781522585718 DOI: 10.4018/978-1-5225-8570-1

## Description

While already validated by the scientific community, multimodal narratives have the potential for a broader application, especially for improved teaching practices from a professional or a theoretical point of view. Applying multimodal narratives within professional development courses creates a focus on the teaching practices rather than the content itself.

**Multimodal Narratives in Research and Teaching Practices** provides educator and researcher perspectives on the use of multimodal narratives as a tool to reflect and improve teaching practices. Covering such topics as professional development, online learning, and teacher education, this publication is designed for educators, academicians, administrators, and researchers.

## **Topics Covered**

The many academic areas covered in this publication include, but are not limited to:

- Epistemic Practices
- Lesson Planning
- Multimodal Narratives
- Museum Educators
- Nursing Education
- Online Learning
- Professional Development
- Semiotic Registers
- Teacher Education
- Teaching Practice

# Multimodal Narratives in Research and Teaching Practices

J. Bernardino Lopes *Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal* 

Maria Clara Viegas *Politécnico do Porto, Portugal* 

José Alexandre Pinto *Politécnico do Porto, Portugal* 

A volume in the Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design (AETID) Book Series



Published in the United States of America by IGI Global Information Science Reference (an imprint of IGI Global) 701 E. Chocolate Avenue Hershey PA, USA 17033 Tel: 717-533-8845 Fax: 717-533-88661 E-mail: cust@igi-global.com Web site: http://www.igi-global.com

Copyright © 2019 by IGI Global. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or distributed in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, without written permission from the publisher. Product or company names used in this set are for identification purposes only. Inclusion of the names of the products or companies does not indicate a claim of ownership by IGI Global of the trademark or registered trademark. Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Lopes, J. Bernardino, editor. | Viegas, Maria Clara, 1968- editor. |
Pinto, Jose Alexandre, 1968- editor.
Title: Multimodal narratives in research and teaching practices / J.
Bernardino Lopes, Maria Clara Viegas, and Jose Alexandre Pinto, editors.
Description: Hershey, PA : Information Science Reference, [2019] | Includes bibliographical references.
Identifiers: LCCN 2018055422| ISBN 9781522585701 (hardcover) | ISBN 9781522585718 (ebook) | ISBN 9781522585732 (softcover)
Subjects: LCSH: Science--Study and teaching--Research.
Classification: LCC Q181 .M95165 2019 | DDC 507.1--dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2018055422

This book is published in the IGI Global book series Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design (AE-TID) (ISSN: 2326-8905; eISSN: 2326-8913)

British Cataloguing in Publication Data A Cataloguing in Publication record for this book is available from the British Library.

All work contributed to this book is new, previously-unpublished material. The views expressed in this book are those of the authors, but not necessarily of the publisher.

For electronic access to this publication, please contact: eresources@igi-global.com.



# Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design (AETID) Book Series

Lawrence A. Tomei Robert Morris University, USA

> ISSN:2326-8905 EISSN:2326-8913

### Mission

Education has undergone, and continues to undergo, immense changes in the way it is enacted and distributed to both child and adult learners. In modern education, the traditional classroom learning experience has evolved to include technological resources and to provide online classroom opportunities to students of all ages regardless of their geographical locations. From distance education, Massive-Open-Online-Courses (MOOCs), and electronic tablets in the classroom, technology is now an integral part of learning and is also affecting the way educators communicate information to students.

The Advances in Educational Technologies & Instructional Design (AETID) Book Series explores new research and theories for facilitating learning and improving educational performance utilizing technological processes and resources. The series examines technologies that can be integrated into K-12 classrooms to improve skills and learning abilities in all subjects including STEM education and language learning. Additionally, it studies the emergence of fully online classrooms for young and adult learners alike, and the communication and accountability challenges that can arise. Trending topics that are covered include adaptive learning, game-based learning, virtual school environments, and social media effects. School administrators, educators, academicians, researchers, and students will find this series to be an excellent resource for the effective design and implementation of learning technologies in their classes.

#### COVERAGE

- Online Media in Classrooms
- Collaboration Tools
- Social Media Effects on Education
- Curriculum Development
- Higher Education Technologies
- Adaptive Learning
- E-Learning
- Bring-Your-Own-Device
- Instructional Design
- Virtual School Environments

IGI Global is currently accepting manuscripts for publication within this series. To submit a proposal for a volume in this series, please contact our Acquisition Editors at Acquisitions@igi-global.com or visit: http://www.igi-global.com/publish/.

The Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design (AETID) Book Series (ISSN 2326-8905) is published by IGI Global, 701 E. Chocolate Avenue, Hershey, PA 17033-1240, USA, www.igi-global.com. This series is composed of titles available for purchase individually; each title is edited to be contextually exclusive from any other title within the series. For pricing and ordering information please visit http://www.igi-global.com/book-series/advances-educational-technologies-instructional-design/73678. Postmaster: Send all address changes to above address. Copyright © 2019 IGI Global. All rights, including translation in other languages reserved by the publisher. No part of this series may be reproduced or used in any form or by any means – graphics, electronic, or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, taping, or information and retrieval systems – without written permission from the publisher, except for non commercial, educational use, including classroom teaching purposes. The views expressed in this series are those of the authors, but not necessarily of IGI Global.

## Titles in this Series

For a list of additional titles in this series, please visit: www.igi-global.com/book-series

Handbook of Research on Assessment Literacy and Teacher-Made Testing in the Language Classroom Eddy White (University of Arizona, USA) and Thomas Delaney (University of Oregon, USA) Information Science Reference • copyright 2019 • 410pp • H/C (ISBN: 9781522569862) • US \$255.00 (our price)

Interdisciplinary and International Perspectives on 3D Printing in Education

Ieda M. Santos (Emirates College for Advanced Education, UAE) Nagla Ali (Emirates College for Advanced Education, UAE) and Shaljan Areepattamannil (Emirates College for Advanced Education, UAE) Information Science Reference • copyright 2019 • 346pp • H/C (ISBN: 9781522570189) • US \$195.00 (our price)

Bayesian Networks for Managing Learner Models in Adaptive Hypermedia Systems Emerging Research and Opportunities

Mouenis Anouar Tadlaoui (Abdelmalek Essaadi University, Morocco) Mohamed Khaldi (Abdelmalek Essaadi University, Morocco) and Rommel Novaes Carvalho (University of Brasília, Brazil) Information Science Reference • copyright 2019 • 199pp • H/C (ISBN: 9781522574132) • US \$165.00 (our price)

Handbook of Research on TPACK in the Digital Age

Margaret L. Niess (Oregon State University, USA) Henry Gillow-Wiles (Southern Oregon University, USA) and Charoula Angeli (University of Cyprus, Cyprus)

Information Science Reference • copyright 2019 • 490pp • H/C (ISBN: 9781522570011) • US \$255.00 (our price)

#### Educational and Social Dimensions of Digital Transformation in Organizations

Paula Peres (Polytechnic of Porto, Portugal) Fernando Moreira (Universidade Portucalense, Portugal & Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal) and Anabela Mesquita (Polytechnic of Porto, Portugal)

Information Science Reference • copyright 2019 • 372pp • H/C (ISBN: 9781522562610) • US \$185.00 (our price)

Handbook of Research on Curriculum Reform Initiatives in English Education Christopher Denman (Sultan Qaboos University, Oman) and Rahma Al-Mahrooqi (Sultan Qaboos University, Oman) Information Science Reference • copyright 2019 • 372pp • H/C (ISBN: 9781522558460) • US \$225.00 (our price)

Global Perspectives on Work-Based Learning Initiatives Jon Talbot (University of Chester, UK) Information Science Reference • copyright 2019 • 344pp • H/C (ISBN: 9781522569770) • US \$185.00 (our price)



701 East Chocolate Avenue, Hershey, PA 17033, USA Tel: 717-533-8845 x100 • Fax: 717-533-8661E-Mail: cust@igi-global.com • www.igi-global.com

# **Editorial Advisory Board**

Isabel Alarcão, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal Christian Buty, Université Lyon 2, France María Isabel Pozzo, Universidad Nacional de Rosario, Argentina

# List of Reviewers

Marlene Alves Dias, Universidade de Anhanguera - São Paulo, Brazil Adriana Auyuanet, Universidad de la República, Uruguay Andrea Bahamonde, Universidad Austral de Chile, Chile Mónica Baptista, Universidade de Lisboa, Portugal Dürdane Bayram-Jacobs, University of Radboud, The Netherlands Teresa Bettencourt, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal Bento Cavadas, Politécnico de Santarém, Portugal Nuria Climent, Universidad de Huelva, Spain Arnaldo de Moura Vaz da Silva, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Brazil Maria do Carmo Galiazzi, Universidade do Federal Rio Grande, Brazil Rabih El Mouhayar, American University of Beirut, Lebanon Chatree Faikhamta, University of Kasetsart, Thailand Francesco Goglia, University of Exeter, UK Betina Lopes, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal Víctor López Simó, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain Maria João Loureiro, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal Isabel Malaquias, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal Stefanos Mantzoukas, Technological Educational Institute of Epirus, Greece Fernando Martins, Politécnico de Coimbra, Portugal Pedro Membiela, Universidad de Vigo, Spain Maria João Monteiro, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Carla Morais, Universidade de Porto, Portugal Lina Morgado, Open University, Portugal Marco Naia, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Teresa Neto, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal

Fátima Paixão, Politécnico de Castelo Branco, Portugal
Lionel Pelissier, Université Toulouse, France
Ana Luiza Rolim, Federal Institute of Pernambuco, Brazil
Xana Sá Pinto, Politécnico do Porto, Portugal
Lucília Santos, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal
Margarida e Silva Afonso, Politécnico de Castelo Branco, Portugal
Armando Soares, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal
Surayot Supprakob, University of Phranakhon Rajabhat, Thailand
Claudius Terkowsky, Dortmund University, Germany
Clara Vasconcelos, Universidade do Porto, Portugal
Floriano Viseu, Universidade do Minho, Portugal

# **Table of Contents**

Foreword by Christian Buty	XX
Foreword by María Isabel Pozzo	xxii
Preface	xxiv
Acknowledgment	xxvi

#### Section 1

Multimodal Narratives: A Tool and an Open Resource for Practice, Research, and Professional Development

#### **Chapter 1**

The Importance of Making Teaching Practices Public, Shareable, and Usable: The Role of	
Multimodal Narratives	1
J. Bernardino Lopes, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal	
Maria Clara Viegas, Politécnico do Porto, Portugal	
José Alexandre Pinto, Politécnico do Porto, Portugal	

#### Section 2

Seeing Teaching Practices in Science and Technology Through Multimodal Narratives

#### Chapter 2

Understanding the Importance of Students' Assessment and Feedback With Multimodal Narratives 44 Maria Clara Viegas, Politécnico do Porto, Portugal Eliane de Souza Cruz, Universidade Federal de São Paulo - Diadema, Brazil & Centro de Formação de Educadores da Escola Básica, Brazil

#### **Chapter 3**

How a Specific Task Was Developed Through Multimodal Narratives	80
Chapter 5	
Using Multimodal Narratives to Study Relationships Between Concepts	09
Chapter 6	
Looking at Linear Algebra Teaching Practices Through Multimodal Narratives	26
Section 3 Professional Development of Science and Technology Teachers Using Multimodal Narratives	
Chapter 7 Using Multimodal Narratives in Professional Development to Support Collaborative Work: Improving Teaching Practices to Enhance Learning	48
Chapter 8 Using Multimodal Narratives in Teacher Education	73
Chapter 9 Multimodal Narratives as a Tool for In-Service Teachers in an Online Professional Development Course	91
Daniela Pedrosa, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Gonçalo Cruz, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal & Universidade	

### Chapter 10

Aberta, Portugal

Improving Visual Representations' Impact in Mathematics Teaching With Multimodal Narratives. 211 Paula Montenegro, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Cecília Costa, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal J. Bernardino Lopes, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

Leonel Morgado, Universidade Aberta, Portugal & LE@D, Portugal

Assessing Teaching Practices Development With Multimodal Narratives	
Ana Edite Cunha, Escola Secundária S. Pedro de Vila Real, Portugal	

#### Section 4 Researching Science and Technology Practices Using Multimodal Narratives

#### Chapter 12

Using Multimodal Narratives in Science and Technology Education Research	252
José Paulo Cravino, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal & Centro de	
Investigação em Didática e Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal	

#### Chapter 13

#### Chapter 14

#### Chapter 15

Researching One's Own Practice: Reflections on the Teaching of Linear Algebra Using	
Multimodal Narratives	305
Ricardo Gonçalves, Instituto Politécnico do Cávado e do Ave, Portugal	
Cecília Costa, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal & Centro de	
Investigação em Didática e Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal	

### **Chapter 16**

Researching Language and Semiotic Registers in Chemistry Lessons Using Multimodal
Narratives
Carolina José Maria, Universidade Metodista de Piracicaba, Brazil

### Section 5 Using Multimodal Narratives in Other Contexts

#### Chapter 17

Multimodal Narratives in Nursing Education: Exploring Their Potentialities	356
Marília Rua, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal & Centro de Investigação em Didática e	
Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal	
Rita M. F. Leal, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal & Unidade de Cuidados na Comunidade	
Aveiro, Portugal	
Nilza Costa, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal & Centro de Investigação em Didática e	
Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal	
Conclusion	376
Compilation of References	379
About the Contributors	410
Index	415

# **Detailed Table of Contents**

Foreword by Christian Buty	xx
Foreword by María Isabel Pozzo	xxii
Preface	xxiv
Acknowledgment	xxvi

### Section 1 Multimodal Narratives: A Tool and an Open Resource for Practice, Research, and Professional Development

In Section 1, the reader can get a complete idea of what a multimodal narrative (MN) is, how to produce and validate a MN, and its different purposes. This section also serves as a reference part where readers can go to address any doubt regarding specifics aspects of the MN. In the end of Section 1, there are indications on how to proceed to access the MN collection (Chapter 1: Appendix 1). Furthermore, it provides two complete examples of MN in order to better understand its characteristics and potentialities (Chapter 1: Appendix 2).

#### Chapter 1

J. Bernardino Lopes, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Maria Clara Viegas, Politécnico do Porto, Portugal José Alexandre Pinto, Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

It is acknowledged that to improve the value of the learning process and outcomes in areas such as science, technology, engineering and math, the teaching quality needs to be enhanced. Therefore, it is crucial to have access to real teaching practices. The multimodal narrative (MN) tool allows teaching practices to become public, sharable, and usable (open science perspective), preserving their holistic, complex, and ecological nature. This tool has characteristics and a structure that enable an in-depth study of teaching practices, in different contexts, with several purposes (e.g., teacher education, professional development, and research). This chapter presents MNs and the necessary steps involved in collecting multimodal data, structuring the narrative, and validating the document. MNs can be used by teachers and researchers, or other professionals, with multiple specific objectives, globally contributing to improving professional practices.

#### Section 2

#### Seeing Teaching Practices in Science and Technology Through Multimodal Narratives

Section 2 is intended to show multimodal narratives (MNs) in action, that is, to use MN excerpts to transport readers into a classroom and understand in first-hand the teaching practices in action. As already explained in Section 1, these MN excerpts are not chosen as exemplary ones, simply as samples upon which the author and the reader may want to reflect upon.

#### Chapter 2

Understanding the Importance of Students' Assessment and Feedback With Multimodal Narratives 44 Maria Clara Viegas, Politécnico do Porto, Portugal Eliane de Souza Cruz, Universidade Federal de São Paulo - Diadema, Brazil & Centro de Formação de Educadores da Escola Básica, Brazil

Multimodal narratives give insight of a classroom, teacher mediation, and students' work. In this chapter, the authors use this facility to better understand the importance of assessment and feedback in classroom practice. The analysis of excerpts from two complete multimodal narratives made it possible to highlight the importance of teacher intentions regarding the assessment process, the chosen tasks, and the subsequent feedback. It also provided an inside perspective of what was actually implemented in the classroom and how different teacher mediation leads to different results. These identifications in teaching mediation and students' involvement emerge transversally regarding teaching levels or contexts as objects of reflection, illustration, or simply inspiration. This shows the importance this tool can have in education by addressing parallel and complementary aspects of a classroom, which makes it a powerful tool in teaching.

#### **Chapter 3**

Ana Edite Cunha, Escola Secundária S. Pedro de Vila Real, Portugal Cristina Marques, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

This chapter examines teachers' practices in dealing with unexpected situations (USs) in the classroom and students' reactions to these practices. This study analyzes the multimodal narratives (MNs) of the classes of five teachers: three from basic education and two from higher education. The results show that the teachers identified USs and most of the time acted in a way to solve the problem by interacting with their students. This interaction took a variety of forms. The students reacted to these teachers' practices in different ways: clarifying their ideas and concepts, establishing links between ideas and/or concepts, answering or taking the initiative autonomously, correctly performing a task or solving a problem, and/ or becoming more involved/active in their learning. In cases in which teachers did not act on the US, the students did not understand the task or took a passive attitude toward learning.

Multimodal narratives (MNs) in the teaching of science and technology seek to report many aspects of a pedagogical nature in a complete and holistic manner. This chapter shows how six teachers of physics, from Angolan elementary education, without adequate pedagogical or academic training to teach physics, specifically the Newtonian concept of force, worked on a task during an intensive teacher training course. The MNs documents the professional development of the teachers in particular showing how they appropriated a tool (a specific didactic model) that was object of the training. The results achieved, with the help of multimodal narratives to register the occurrences in the seminar, once again reveal that MNs are as valuable a pedagogical tool in teachers' teaching practices as in their professional development (PD).

#### Chapter 5

Using Multimodal Narratives to Study Relationships Between Concepts...... 109 António Barbot, Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

In conceptual teaching and learning, relationships between concepts play a key role. This chapter describes a case where two conceptual fields, water and energy, were treated in order to promote understanding of relationships between them. It deals with the importance of "potential relationships" and describes how multimodal narratives contributed to those elucidations and to these practices in the classroom and their interpretation, as well as to the professional development of teachers. The chapter elucidates concept use, relating concepts, ways of discerning relationships between concepts, loss of relationship opportunities that were created by students, and ways of verifying that certain relationships were achieved.

#### Chapter 6

There is a lack of research studies on teaching practices in higher education, which does not contribute to a greater and better reflection on the failure in some disciplines, namely in linear algebra. Multimodal narrative (MN) is a facilitator of research in this field. This chapter describes how the use of MN of linear algebra classes was done and allowed reflection on and modification of the practices. Formative situations are presented: 1) planned and successful, 2) planned and less achieved, 3) unexpected and successful, and 4) unexpected and less achieved. Two transversal aspects to the teaching sequence are also presented: use of technology and geometric approach. This study made it possible to recognize the MN's potential as a tool to "observe" and analyze linear algebra teaching practices in diverse aspects. It also shows that MN analysis allowed linear algebra teachers to promote their professional development regardless of the teacher's experience.

#### Section 3 Professional Development of Science and Technology Teachers Using Multimodal Narratives

In this section of the book, the use of multimodal narrative (MN) in the practice of Science and Technology teachers is contemplated including a view to their professional development. Throughout the chapters, situations in which action and object centered reflection potentiates professional knowledge and sharing of experiences are presented. Despite these cases being referent to specific themes, since MNs focus on classroom actions and practices, they may prove to be rich in strategies and approaches. They are thus useful in any context, particularly in Science and Technology teaching. The reading of this section can be done from two perspectives: first, from the perspective of teachers interested in performing MN of their classes as a way to better understand their practice to reflect on their work or even to use them for didactic purposes; second, by the reading of MN performed by other teachers (even in different realities) to identify strengths and weaknesses of classroom practices and to better understand the practice of teachers (even in different realities) to identify strengths and weaknesses of the perspective, it will be possible to use the MN to enrich the practice of teaching.

#### **Chapter 7**

J. Bernardino Lopes, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

In this chapter, the authors discuss professional development (PD), self- and hetero-directed based on cases of physics education teachers in secondary and higher education and the role that multimodal narratives have in both processes. They adopt the PD perspective, which assumes that PD should be evaluated by its impact on teaching practices improvement. In this context, the PD aims to improve, incrementally, teaching practices. This process is difficult and complex and involves both teachers themselves and other professionals. Multimodal narratives (MN) are a tool that makes it possible to make teaching practices public and thus open to analysis by the teacher, other professionals, and researchers. The reported PD uses MNs as a tool that supports the teacher's collaborative work with peers and researchers. This collaborative work results in important incremental improvements in teaching practices.

#### Chapter 8

Using Multimodal Narratives in Teacher Education	173
José Alexandre Pinto, Politécnico do Porto, Portugal	

Teacher training processes must incorporate a reflective dimension as a strategy for professional development. The pursuit of a professional identity and the need to give personal meaning to theoretical principles grounds the emergence of young teachers' reflection. In this chapter, multimodal narrative (MN) is presented as a tool to support reflexive approaches in the development of teachers' professional knowledge. The data collected about the perspectives of student teachers and supervisors who experienced the use of MN show the interest of these actors about the tool and about the processes of its use. This chapter presents and discusses constraints identified throughout the pilot study of using a MN in teacher training that the authors developed. It also presents a proposal for the use of MN in the context of initiation of the professional practice that includes an adapted version of the MN tool and a phased process of its use.

Multimodal Narratives as a Tool for In-Service Teachers in an Online Professional Development	
Course	191
Daniela Pedrosa, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal	
Gonçalo Cruz, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal & Universidade	
Aberta, Portugal	
Leonel Morgado, Universidade Aberta, Portugal & LE@D, Portugal	

This chapter presents how multimodal narratives were employed as a self-reflection tool within an online professional development program for in-service teacher training at Universidade Aberta, Portugal during two editions of a pedagogic practice course. The chapter includes the aspects that raised issues and those that trainees performed correctly. This is done in three stages: beforehand, upon initial contact with multimodal narratives, and after providing feedback to trainees. The most relevant issues were in aspects directly required to enrich the narrative. Aspects related to multimodal narrative structure and features were completed successfully. It is recommended that future attempts to employ multimodal narratives in this context adapt learning resources and pedagogic support practices by employing formative feedback and continual support during the trainees' process of exploring and exploiting multimodal narratives.

#### Chapter 10

Improving Visual Representations' Impact in Mathematics Teaching With Multimodal Narratives. 211 Paula Montenegro, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Cecília Costa, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal J. Bernardino Lopes, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

This chapter focuses on the impact that multimodal narratives (MN), elaborated to a first intervention (MN1) and to a succession of interventions (MN2), had in the professional development of a teacher to increase the impact of visual representations in the teaching and learning of mathematical content. The study follows an interpretative paradigm, with design science research and case study investigation methods. The participants are two groups of students (mean age 10.7 years and 11.3 years) and their Mathematics teacher. The data were collected from the students' written records, lesson plans, and teacher's notes. The data collected were organized in a MN. The results show that the MN is a tool that facilitates the process of professional development at the self-reflection level and in combination with researchers. The authors conclude that MN is an efficient and useful tool for professional development that aims to improve teaching practices and student learning.

#### Chapter 11

This chapter focuses on teachers' professional development, on the task design and on experimental work, as well as on the role of the teachers' mediation in the quality of student learning. The research problem was how the teacher can promote self-directed professional development, namely, improving the quality of teaching practices to influence the quality of students' learning, in their engagement in experimental tasks and epistemic practices. A longitudinal research methodology was followed during 10 years, based on a qualitative case study, from a curricular approach in secondary education. The

analysis of data collection on teaching practices and students' learning over time and the teachers' professional pathways allow to formulate the following conclusions: (1) new traits of teaching practices were identified that promote students' productive engagement; (2) changes to the task design were enough to trigger differences in teachers' mediation, with consequences for students' epistemic practices and their productive engagement.

#### Section 4 Researching Science and Technology Practices Using Multimodal Narratives

Section 4 of this book reports research on Science and Technology teaching practices based on academic research criteria using as empirical base the multimodal narratives (MNs) in their final public and shareable form, available in a collection of MNs (see Section 1). The set is representative, but not exhaustive, of the several research studies that have already been carried out with MNs.

#### Chapter 12

This chapter begins by presenting how multimodal narratives were developed and how they have evolved in time as a research tool. Their characteristics are explained, as well as their potential for use in research studies. One important aspect discussed in this chapter is the versatility of this tool, which allows for many possible investigative approaches. In particular, it addresses how multimodal narratives can be used to carry out studies in science and technology education research. Several examples are provided of such studies that were developed within a research community which has been working with multimodal narratives for over a decade.

#### Chapter 13

This chapter describes an empirical study using multimodal narratives for research into students' development of epistemic practices in the classroom. Multimodal narratives can give access to classroom events, preserving their complex and holistic nature. Through content analysis, they allow a good comprehension of the multimodal narratives as a research instrument. Their importance is based on the richness of elements they contain that allow the identification, categorization, and characterization of teacher mediation actions that promote, scaffold, and enlarge students' epistemic practice development. This chapter seeks to describe both their multiple potentialities as an instrument and their limitations when researching the development of students' epistemic practices in the physical sciences classroom.

#### Chapter 14

This chapter aims to identify certain interaction dynamics between pedagogical decisions and students' epistemic practices (EPs) that occur during science and technology lessons conducted by teachers at two different teaching levels. A content analysis was undertaken of multimodal narratives (MNs) of lessons based on two case studies of secondary and higher education teachers. MN excerpts are used to illustrate the interaction dynamics between pedagogical decisions and students' EPs for each teacher. Results show that the secondary education teacher makes more pedagogical decisions than the higher education students. The results also show that it is possible to use MNs as an instrument to develop research on teachers' pedagogical decisions. Teachers' pedagogical decisions are an important asset for teacher professional development as they have an impact on students' epistemic work in the physical science classroom.

#### Chapter 15

Researching One's Own Practice: Reflections on the Teaching of Linear Algebra Using	
Multimodal Narratives	5
Ricardo Gonçalves, Instituto Politécnico do Cávado e do Ave, Portugal	
Cecília Costa, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal & Centro de	
Investigação em Didática e Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal	

This chapter aims to link the known research results on the teaching and learning of linear algebra to research on teaching practices. The same person, as a teacher and as a researcher, plans and implements a teaching sequence, constructs multimodal narratives (MNs) for some classes, and reflects on his own practice, based on the emerging categories from content analysis of the MNs. Regarding the methodology and focusing on the role of MNs in this research, it is worth highlighting the value attributed to MNs because they function as an instrument that embodies the practices of the teacher and aid him in reflecting on his own practice.

### **Chapter 16**

Carolina José Maria, Universidade Metodista de Piracicaba, Brazil

The main objective of this chapter is to extend the discussion of language and the use of semiotic registers in chemistry lessons. Audio and video recordings, students' notebooks, photographs of content, and activities recorded on the blackboard in chemistry lessons for high school students taught in a public school in the interior of the State of São Paulo enabled the construction of multimodal narratives (MNs). The qualitative analysis of the MNs allowed the identification and understanding of the semiotic registers present in eight lessons conducted by a chemistry teacher. The study revealed several semiotic registers present in the lessons, but there is little exploration of the processes of conversion between semiotic registers by the teacher and therefore by the students. The use of different semiotic registers without the necessary understanding of them can result in difficulties in the teaching and learning processes of chemical concepts.

#### Section 5 Using Multimodal Narratives in Other Contexts

In this section of the book we try to blur boundaries and to point out contexts that are less exploited in the initial moments of multimodal narrative (MN) tool development. Seeking to go beyond familiar circumstances, we are moving forward with the conviction that the characteristics of MN are sufficient grounds to support our confidence that they will be usable and useful in several professional contexts. The two approaches we bring in this section of the book are, first, illustrations of the diversity we foresee for the use of MN. In the following two chapters, we present work done using MN in two very distinct contexts. The first context presents the work done on the Science Museum Educators' Discourse and the second on Nursing Education. It is intended that these examples, in addition to the intrinsic and relevant issues they present, constitute a challenge to the reader to reflect on the MN's potentialities in multiple contexts.

#### Chapter 17

Museum educators play an important role in science communication, as they connect elements of an exhibit with visitors through emotion-driven experiences that are meaningful to them. Language is their main modus operandi in face-to-face interactions, but little is known of how they use it to communicate science, in part because little attention has been given to their practices and professional development. Nowadays, museums are changing, and science communication has become more demanding as these institutions exhibit hot themes of science. In this context, it is important that museum educators become aware of how they communicate science with an intended audience and reflect on how their practice can be improved. In this chapter, the authors focus on the way multimodal narratives can be used as a tool to access museum educators' discourse as well as how to promote museum educators' reflection about their practice and their professional development.

#### Chapter 18

Multimodal Narratives in Nursing Education: Exploring Their Potentialities	356
Marília Rua, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal & Centro de Investigação em Didática e	
Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal	
Rita M. F. Leal, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal & Unidade de Cuidados na Comunidade	
Aveiro, Portugal	
Nilza Costa, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal & Centro de Investigação em Didática e	

Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal

Nursing education is driven by emerging challenges of scientific, technological, and professional advances that require the use of strategies that promote students' development of critical thinking for decision making in different contexts. It also requires that teachers constantly reflect on their pedagogical practices and (re)think them using strategies that allow their enhancement. The use of multimodal narratives (MNs) can be an important tool for teachers' professional development, namely to improve their classroom practices. Given the novelty of the use of MNs in nursing education, this chapter presents an analysis concerning the experience of making a MN and how it has been reflected in the authors' pedagogical practices. With this experience, potentialities of continuing to use MNs in nurse education are explored.

Conclusion	
Compilation of References	
About the Contributors	
Index	

Here is the new book of the UTAD's team! A natural question is: how do they do, to be able to publish so many books? Simple: they work. They have worked hard, for almost twenty years, many people together, so now they have a huge amount of accumulated experience, results and knowledge.

This book is an introduction to the method, which, accompanying a strong collective spirit, allowed them to produce these results and knowledge: the multimodal narratives (MNs). This method has been described briefly in scientific articles, and as such, is validated by the scientific community in Science Education. But articles are always too short, and the format of a book is quite necessary to understand the whole richness of this method of collecting and analysing classroom data, to perceive all the opportunities it offers. It is by the way a quality of this book to give to the reader detailed insights of many various MNs.

We must pay attention to both the words in the expression: "multimodal narratives". In two different dimensions, they manifest the complexity of classroom activity. "Multimodal" because the reality in the classroom mobilises a range of semiotic registers, verbal, gestural, graphical etc., at a given time; if you want to grasp the state of the interaction, you must collect data at these different planes. "Narrative", because the classroom activity is a story, coherent along time, with a history and an aim, and you cannot understand one moment of the story without knowing what happened before and what happened after.

I have just used the word "complexity"; not in its common meaning: complicated! Following Edgar Morin's theory, by "a complex reality" I mean an entity constructed from intertwined elements, which are linked by relationships of complementarity, competition, and antagonism – with a different mixt of each, depending on the case. These relationships between elements allow the complex reality to progress, through the mechanism of recursion, installing constructive loops.

Just as education, research on education is a complex process, with many elements and many loops. Among those elements, students of course, teachers of course – and the book pays a great tribute to the study of interactions between those two kinds of elements. But a long-term characteristics of UTAD's team is to aggregate, without identifying them, the researchers to the social activity of teachers that is, not to put them on a separate (and implicitly higher) level. These characteristics is theoretically grounded on a reflection, developed in Chapter 7, about the nature of professional knowledge, which recognises it from a different nature than scientific knowledge, and which makes it necessary to take into account both perspectives, researchers and teachers. That is why this book is of interest both for researchers and for teachers.

MNs are the tool for making this kind of complexity alive. First, the research practice of UTAD's team is that a teacher, alone in his/her class, can create MNs valid for research. It is the proof of a deep confidence in the professional rigour of the teacher; but is also the affirmation that subjectivity has a

scientific value, far from the hard-science perspective trying to rule human sciences. But the subjectivity is carefully controlled – by researchers – through the unified protocol of MNs. The MNs install a well-balanced relationship between research and professional practice.

Second, MNs install the loop. When a teacher, alone in his/her class, elaborates a MN, s/he is not a pure observer; of course, s/he describes what s/he has wanted and done, what the answer of the class was; but this elaboration changes him or her, by the reflection it demands, and the process of collective validation of the MN will deepen the changes as well. Chapter 5 and chapter 7 are eloquent to this regard. After a MN, the teacher will not be the same person, and will not teach in the same way. The product has changed the process. This is a starting point towards long-term professional development. The interested reader can find examples in a former and recent book of the team, *Teaching Science. Contributions of Research for Planning, Practice and Professional Development*.

I do not want to end these notes without emphasizing the great importance of Chapter 12. You fully understand a human or social reality only when you know its history. That is why Chapter 12 recalls the development of MNs' technology. The examples in this chapter in particular give to see the development of a loop at the research level too, due to the use of MNs: when you engage using the MNs with their preformatted framework, you change the nature of the data you collect.

Finally, we must be grateful to the team to have created a website, giving access to a lot of MNs, and giving the possibility to other researchers to enrich this database. This offer is consistent with the adoption of the perspective of the Open Science movement, and also with the choice to address both teachers and researchers.

And that also allows understanding a reason, among others, why they publish a book about the method *after* some books about the results: the method has permitted to obtain some results, through a work that has refined and developed and extended the method, up to a step where other researchers or teachers can appropriate the method, solid enough, and participate in the recursion, enriching the results and the method, in other countries, other specific knowledge domains, other fields of interactive activities, beyond science education.

Enter the loop!

Christian Buty Université Lyon 2, France 2018, November 2

Research on educational practices is receiving a lot of attention currently. Whether for the purpose of a deep reflection on such practices, or simply due to the requirement for teachers to do research as part of their professional performance, studies have truly multiplied. However, the remaining problem is the socialization of them in their entirety. While the Open Science movement has expanded and institutional repositories have progressively become daily resources, authentic records of empirical data still remain mostly hidden. Neither journal articles nor books can include them due to space limitations.

On the other hand, researchers are facing an increasing difficulty entering the field due to several reasons including transportation costs in some cases, but primarily the educational institutions' reluctance to see their routine invaded or affected by academics (trained or in training process), who do not always return to share the results of their studies. Another obstacle is the intrinsic difficulty in collecting field data without altering the natural course of events. Currently methodological discussions in the literature often cover ethical concerns (e.g., how to guarantee total anonymity), and technological issues (how to take advantage of technologies to capture reality), but thus far solutions have not been found.

These reasons, among others, point to the need for a radical shift in empirical research; specifically, to fully utilize the empirical materials collected by teachers and researchers. How could this be done? By developing data collection techniques that capture the complex nature of educational settings, and portray the findings with multimodal elements that transform the narrative into a vivid experience. Diversified types of data, such as audio or audiovisual recordings, teachers' and students' notes, photographs of blackboards, classroom plans, diagrams illustrating the spatial positions and movements of teachers and students, educational resources used in class (posters, slide presentations), students' tests, among others, could possibly more thoroughly capture this complexity. In this way, it might be possible to "transport" the reader to the class.

Through such techniques, we could examine specific phenomena like the teacher's proposals and the students' reactions, or the intended work and the work actually performed by the students, and expand them in turn to the context (for a complete transversal view) and/or to the line story (for a longitudinal perspective), overcoming the reductionism of critical incidents or specific moments in class.

Although this approach seems to be a solution, it is not a simple one. It requires mechanisms capable of guaranteeing the fidelity of the empirical records, and making them complete and standardized so that they can later be used and compared with others. Those mechanisms, in turn, require a guide for achieving a rigorous description which can be openly shared; basically, a protocol to elaborate a Multimodal Narrative (MN). Finally, this tool requires the hard work of creating the necessary database to compile the MNs; validated documents by the academic community in an open source webpage. Thus, MN can be a tool and a collection, a process and a product, and the participants can be MN users and contributors.

The current book addresses these requirements, framed as the useful formulaic concept of Multimodal Narrative (MN), with ample background information throughout the chapters. Complemented with up-to date references, the book allows readers to build and complete their knowledge on the topic of MN. Overall, the strength of the book is based on two factors: the topic itself -i.e., the importance of MN-, and multiple explanations that show its benefits. Due to the clarity of language, this work is appropriate for a wide audience, including both researchers and educators. The possibilities of MN for research, teaching, and professional development in different contexts are clearly presented and explained. Furthermore, due to the particularities of each kind of MN practice, the book is organized in a first section that addresses them together and then devotes a section to each one.

In this dialectic of the specific profiles and the shared roles between teachers and researchers, existing barriers are removed. On the one hand, teachers act like researchers by collecting their own field material, taking advantage of their complete exposure to natural settings. Likewise, the methodological rigor, usually attributed to researchers, becomes the *modus operandi* of both the teachers and researchers. On the other hand, the researchers have the possibility to engage directly in the analysis of the material constructed by the teachers, suppressing the traditional hierarchies in which the former "own" the data. In this way, the authors fulfill a need for real collaboration between teaching and research, and link the different investigative processes across several contexts, countries and educational levels.

On the part of academics, the scientific research is made accessible to everyone, sharing the results of their work to promote professional development, and thus, contributing to the improvement of educational practices. This objective is imperative in Science, Technology, Engineering and Math, in which there is a need to increase the number of professionals and their skills to deal with a more complex society. In this context, this book is an invitation, a challenge, a proposal, a guide, and a goal.

María Isabel Pozzo Universidad Nacional de Rosario, Argentina 2018, October 18

# Preface

This book is dedicated to all teachers and Science and Technology (S&T) education researchers who want to improve teaching practices from a professional or a theoretical point of view.

It introduces a tool already validated by the scientific community – Multimodal Narratives (MN) – to a vaster audience.

This tool was developed by a research team as they felt the necessity of being able to capture the holistic nature of a classroom practice. A MN intends to be the class "story", combining subjective and objective data, producing a written genuine document able to transport the reader to within the class itself. The prior validation of each NM by a research team gives the reader the assurance of its truthfulness.

The reader may immerse in the MN "world" with different levels of commitment and this book will help the understanding of advantages in each one. For instance, the reader can find the necessary indications in order to begin to produce MN on its own. Or the reader may decide to simply read some MNs and reflect upon other teachers' practice or compare with personal experiences.

On the other hand, the reader may want to use MNs as a research tool in education research. Again, the reader will find different levels in which MN proves useful. From the data collection phase to the study and development of the theoretical framework in any area, by analyzing several MN produced in different contexts. As it will be explained, due to MN main characteristic of focusing on the teaching practice and not on the subjects, this diversity of contexts becomes a major advantage. As a *cherry on the top*, MNs can be found in an open source webpage, in an Open Science perspective, allowing any researcher to access MNs as a reader or as a contributor to enlarge this collection.

In this sense, the book is organized into these different perspectives of usage, following a gradual increase of commitment of the reader with MNs' usage: as a teacher to acknowledge different practices inside the classroom (Section 2), as a teacher or teacher educator using MNs as a tool to reflect and improve teaching practices (Section 3), as a teacher-researcher or researcher using MNs as a research tool (Section 4).

Following this reader-alignment, in Section 1, the reader can get a complete idea of what a MN represents, how to produce a MN and its different purposes. This section also serves as a reference part, where readers can go to address any doubt regarding structural or methodological aspects of the MN. It also provides indications on how to proceed in the access to the MN collection (http://multimodal.narratives. utad.pt) and an index of all MN present as their context and level of education. In the end of Section 1 there are two full examples of complete MN in order to better understand its potentialities. In Section 2, the reader can see particular aspects of teaching practices through MNs, how teachers exploit them and the corresponding developments in class. In Section 3, MN are used and explored in professional development, that is, how teachers may use MNs of their own classes or from other teachers to improve

#### Preface

their own practice. Finally, in Section 4, some research studies using MNs are presented, allowing better understandings of the complexity of teacher mediation in the classroom. The Section 5 intends to show that MN can also be applied beyond S&T teaching practices or contexts. As long as there is a role of an educator, MN can be useful to better understand and improve that practice.

All through this book the reader can have different viewpoints: educator or researcher. In each one, can opt to read about it or to produce work with MNs. Also, with an open science perspective, using the MN collection, the reader may choose to work upon other teachers' MNs or produce some of his own.

All authors had directly or indirectly contacted with MN and their singular perspectives allowed this book to consolidate MN advantages from different angles. Every chapter in this book went through a process of double blinded review by at least two members of our Scientific Board. These experts from 29 universities and from 12 countries never worked with MN and the great majority never even heard about it before. This was intentional and provided an impartial scrutiny of this work. The thorough analysis produced in each chapter allowed the authors to improve their works and better capture the essence of their contributions. Complementary to this particular analysis, a methodologic and structural scrutiny was produced by the Advisors. Their insights allowed us to successfully improve the readability and flow of the book.

The massive positive opinion about MN capacities, both from the Scientific and Advisory Boards, is already a highly encouraging step towards the success of this book.

J. Bernardino Lopes Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

Maria Clara Viegas Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

José Alexandre Pinto Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

# Acknowledgment

This book represents a combined effort between a large team of teachers and researchers of Science and Technology Education to whom we are profoundly grateful and proud of having work with.

Even though we cannot name them all, we must express our gratitude to all researchers, teachers, students and school staff of all the involved institutions. Each one of them was invaluable in their cooperation and enthusiasm.

In particular, we address a word of thankfulness to each author of the chapters. Their belief in this project from day one, the quality of the presented work and their timely response to all challenges, allowed us to successfully complete this errand.

A special appreciation to our Scientific Board, who certified the quality of each work and gave precious inputs to improve their value and legibility.

An unlimited gratitude to the Advisory Board. We believe that with their help and expertise through the editing process and namely their advices upon the book structure, coherence and flow between the different parts, led to crucial improvements which, in our opinion, helped this book become an important contribution to the scientific community.

At last, we must acknowledge our gratefulness to the research center: *Centro de Investigação em Didática e Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores* – CIDTFF.

This work was financially supported by Portuguese National Funds through FCT – *Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia*, I.P., project UID/CED/00194/2013.

# Chapter 1 The Importance of Making Teaching Practices Public, Shareable, and Usable: The Role of Multimodal Narratives

J. Bernardino Lopes Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

> Maria Clara Viegas Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

> José Alexandre Pinto Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

### ABSTRACT

It is acknowledged that to improve the value of the learning process and outcomes in areas such as science, technology, engineering and math, the teaching quality needs to be enhanced. Therefore, it is crucial to have access to real teaching practices. The multimodal narrative (MN) tool allows teaching practices to become public, sharable, and usable (open science perspective), preserving their holistic, complex, and ecological nature. This tool has characteristics and a structure that enable an in-depth study of teaching practices, in different contexts, with several purposes (e.g., teacher education, professional development, and research). This chapter presents MNs and the necessary steps involved in collecting multimodal data, structuring the narrative, and validating the document. MNs can be used by teachers and researchers, or other professionals, with multiple specific objectives, globally contributing to improving professional practices.

DOI: 10.4018/978-1-5225-8570-1.ch001

### AN OPEN SCIENCE CONTRIBUTION: MAKING TEACHING PRACTICES PUBLIC, SHAREABLE, AND USABLE

In the context of our societies' strong immersion in Science and Technology (S&T) in everyday life, it is fundamental to ensure that the advances in S&T support and promote well-being both for individuals and for society from a holistic perspective. This principle not only involves the challenge of providing people with the capacity to understand and interact in scientific and technological contexts but also encompasses the recognition of the need to shorten the time between the creation of new knowledge and its dissemination and incorporation. This book can contribute to the Open Science movement.

The Open Science movement seeks to make scientific research accessible to everyone, particularly the research community, by taking advantage of the technological communication networks currently available. It is a concept that is widely recognized among researchers (e.g. Altunay et al., 2011; Fecher & Friesike, 2014) and institutions. In this regard, the European Union recognized the value of Open Science in the program Horizon 2020: EU Research and Innovation. It is also acknowledged by the Group of Seven (G7). In a statement (2017, p. 7), the G7 pronounced:

First, the incentives for the openness of the research ecosystem: the evaluation of research careers should better recognise and reward Open Science activities. Secondly, the infrastructures for an optimal use of research data: all researchers should be able to deposit, access and analyse scientific data across disciplines and at the global scale, and research data should adhere to the FAIR principles of being findable, accessible, interoperable, and reusable.

This book shows how Science and Technology (S&T) teaching practices can be public and sharable (the open science perspective), preserving their holistic, complex, and multimodal nature using a tool—Multimodal Narrative (MN)—validated by the academic community (Lopes et al., 2014). This tool has two components: a protocol to elaborate an MN and a validated document. As a document, the MN can be used in education research, in professional development, and in the articulation between S&T teaching practices and S&T education research to improve the quality of both. This tool allows researchers to overcome the difficulty of entering a classroom and obtaining reliable data on teaching practices that can be used and compared by teachers and researchers.

The characteristics and structure of MNs allow for comparability between them (even in different contexts) to achieve purposes related to the improvement of S&T teaching, research, and professional development.

MNs, both as a tool and as a collection, occupy an open science perspective, since (a) professionals can elaborate an MN of their own professional practices, based on data, thus participating in the research process and gradually increasing the MN collection available, and (b) researchers can access and analyze scientific data about S&T teaching practices in several contexts and countries and at different educational levels.

MNs open new possibilities for:

• Research, because they allow the comparison of teaching practices at different levels of education and in different countries and contexts, and even professional profiles, allowing a deeper understanding; 40 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: www.igi-global.com/chapter/the-importance-of-making-teaching-practicespublic-shareable-and-usable/222101?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

### **Related Content**

# The Evaluation of Engineering Properties of Low Cost Concrete Blocks by Partial Doping of Sand with Sawdust: Low Cost Sawdust Concrete Block

Pius Rodney Fernando, T. Hamigah, S. Disne, G. G. A. K. Wickramasingha and A. Sutharshan (2018). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 26-42).* 

www.igi-global.com/article/the-evaluation-of-engineering-properties-of-low-cost-concrete-blocksby-partial-doping-of-sand-with-sawdust/204389?camid=4v1a

#### Soft Methods for Automatic Drug Infusion in Medical Care Environment

Filipe Quinaz, Paulo Fazendeiro, Miguel Castelo-Branco and Pedro Araújo (2015). *Research Methods: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications (pp. 1384-1408).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/soft-methods-for-automatic-drug-infusion-in-medical-careenvironment/124553?camid=4v1a

### Using Multimodal Narratives in Professional Development to Support Collaborative Work: Improving Teaching Practices to Enhance Learning

J. Bernardino Lopes (2019). *Multimodal Narratives in Research and Teaching Practices (pp. 148-172).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/using-multimodal-narratives-in-professional-development-tosupport-collaborative-work/222109?camid=4v1a

#### Constructing Historical Knowledge through Graphic Boundary Objects

Konstantin Solomin and Maria Mandrik (2015). *Collaborative Knowledge in Scientific Research Networks* (pp. 354-370).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/constructing-historical-knowledge-through-graphic-boundaryobjects/119832?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 2 Understanding the Importance of Students' Assessment and Feedback With Multimodal Narratives

Maria Clara Viegas Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

Eliane de Souza Cruz

Universidade Federal de São Paulo - Diadema, Brazil & Centro de Formação de Educadores da Escola Básica, Brazil

### ABSTRACT

Multimodal narratives give insight of a classroom, teacher mediation, and students' work. In this chapter, the authors use this facility to better understand the importance of assessment and feedback in classroom practice. The analysis of excerpts from two complete multimodal narratives made it possible to highlight the importance of teacher intentions regarding the assessment process, the chosen tasks, and the subsequent feedback. It also provided an inside perspective of what was actually implemented in the classroom and how different teacher mediation leads to different results. These identifications in teaching mediation and students' involvement emerge transversally regarding teaching levels or contexts as objects of reflection, illustration, or simply inspiration. This shows the importance this tool can have in education by addressing parallel and complementary aspects of a classroom, which makes it a powerful tool in teaching.

#### INTRODUCTION

The learning assessment has always been part of the teaching process. It is usually used to enhance student learning – called formative assessment or assessment for learning, as well as to judge and certify learning achievements – called summative assessment or assessment of learning (Nicol, 2008; Black & William, 1998; Sadler, 1989). Since the "teaching objective is that students would learn" (Lopes, 2004),

DOI: 10.4018/978-1-5225-8570-1.ch002

#### Understanding the Importance of Students' Assessment and Feedback With Multimodal Narratives

teachers have increasingly been devoting their attention to the formative role of assessment, which aims to underpin students' learning in their ongoing effort to build knowledge, helped by their teacher's feedback (Dufresne & Gerace, 2004) and their peers' feedback (Cruz, 2012; Nicol, 2008). Simultaneously, teachers are also using learning technologies to aid them in the process (Laurillard, 2002).

According to Sambell (2016), the challenge involves viewing assessment and feedback as dialogic, dynamic and open to negotiation, with an emphasis on process as well as product.

The mediation between teacher and students is a crucial analysis factor that will influence the learning outcomes. The ways teachers organize the curriculum, idealize the tasks and present them to students, guide class discussions or monitor their progress can lead to substantially different results (Cruz, 2012; Lopes, 2004; Viegas, Lopes & Cravino, 2010). Teachers may also have an important role in helping students to understand their achievements toward the learning goals by introducing strategies of learning target identification that they can complete with their peers (Sindelar, 2015).

Inherently, studies using classroom practices are very important to gain understanding of the dynamics of interaction between the teacher and the students and strategies to develop the didactical aspects into practice. The literature presents several studies on teaching, learning, teacher reflections or classroom research (Earley, 2014), but usually as separate studies.

Unfortunately, classroom practices and the link between teachers' actions and students' reactions are not easy to study from the inside. Multimodal narratives (MN) is a tool that can fulfill this request and give the reader insight into a classroom, teacher mediation and students' work (Lopes et al., 2014). This tool, as fully presented in chapter 1, provides a succinct narrative of the whole class with its storyline filled with contextual information and the detailed description of the actions and the teachers' and students' discourse during the work developed in the classroom. The great advantage of its usage is that the complex and thorough work of analyzing all the classroom data is validated by the scrutiny of experts; i.e., the MN is a simple text document, easy to read, that will transport the reader inside the classroom. MN makes it possible to visualize how teacher mediation in the classroom can in fact affect student development (Lopes et al., 2014). In addition to the class narratives or even the class video recording, MN allows readers to understand teacher intentions, takes into consideration the class's background and conditions, and shows the way the teacher addresses situations by observing the class's development. Hence, MN may aid in highlighting different aspects of the assessment, such as the design, the chosen tasks and the subsequent feedback. On the other hand, it makes it possible to comprehend not only the teachers' intentions but also the way they are able to implement them in classroom - as well as to infer the results with regard to the classroom environment and students' involvement and comprehension.

The objective of the chapter is the use of MN excerpts to better understand the importance of assessment of and feedback on teaching practices and student development.

#### BACKGROUND

This section is divided according to the three identified aspects of assessment: the assessment process, assessment tasks and assessment feedback.

18 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: <u>www.igi-global.com/chapter/understanding-the-importance-of-students-</u> assessment-and-feedback-with-multimodal-narratives/222103?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

### An Overview of Disaster and Emergency Management Systems Models

Dilshad Sarwar (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 24-37). www.igi-global.com/article/an-overview-of-disaster-and-emergency-management-systemsmodels/196602?camid=4v1a

#### An Overview of Disaster and Emergency Management Systems Models

Dilshad Sarwar (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 24-37). www.igi-global.com/article/an-overview-of-disaster-and-emergency-management-systemsmodels/196602?camid=4v1a

#### Online Adaptive Neuro-Fuzzy Based Full Car Suspension Control Strategy

Laiq Khan and Shahid Qamar (2015). *Research Methods: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications (pp. 992-1039).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/online-adaptive-neuro-fuzzy-based-full-car-suspension-controlstrategy/124537?camid=4v1a

#### Examining Trust in Collaborative Research Networks

Adam Leadbetter (2015). *Collaborative Knowledge in Scientific Research Networks (pp. 21-39).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/examining-trust-in-collaborative-researchnetworks/119814?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 3 Dealing With Unexpected Situations in the Classroom: Evidence From Multimodal Narratives of Teaching Practices

Ana Edite Cunha Escola Secundária S. Pedro de Vila Real, Portugal

Cristina Marques Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

### ABSTRACT

This chapter examines teachers' practices in dealing with unexpected situations (USs) in the classroom and students' reactions to these practices. This study analyzes the multimodal narratives (MNs) of the classes of five teachers: three from basic education and two from higher education. The results show that the teachers identified USs and most of the time acted in a way to solve the problem by interacting with their students. This interaction took a variety of forms. The students reacted to these teachers' practices in different ways: clarifying their ideas and concepts, establishing links between ideas and/or concepts, answering or taking the initiative autonomously, correctly performing a task or solving a problem, and/ or becoming more involved/active in their learning. In cases in which teachers did not act on the US, the students did not understand the task or took a passive attitude toward learning.

#### INTRODUCTION

This chapter presents an analysis of the performance of the classes of five teachers, three in basic education (students' ages from 13 to 15 years) and two in higher education, focusing on the decisions of the teachers when facing unexpected situations in the classroom and on the students' reactions to these decisions, in terms of learning.

The authors begin by presenting the reasoning of this study in terms of the classroom real-time decision making of teachers. The relevance of knowing and understanding teachers' decisions is discussed

DOI: 10.4018/978-1-5225-8570-1.ch003

to improve their pedagogical practice, especially when decisions are made when facing unexpected situations that occur in the classroom. It is argued that decisions must be taken after critical and systematic reflection on the students' thinking, their execution of tasks, and their learning, as well as the teaching practice. Although there is evidence that teachers and their actions condition the quality of students' learning, the characteristics of teachers' practices that determine improvements in teaching and learning are still unknown. Emphasis is placed on the relevance of teachers' data collection about their teaching and students' learning, so it can be analyzed, reflected on, and interpreted as a way of taking informed decisions, adapted to the reality of each classroom and of each student.

This study intends to identify the characteristics of teachers' decision making in face of unexpected situations in the classroom that contribute to improving students' learning.

#### BACKGROUND

The quality of the professional performance of teachers has been a concern among teachers themselves and investigators for a long time (e.g., Bishop, 1976; Datnow & Hubbard, 2016). In addition to the continuous updating of the knowledge to be taught, being a teacher requires constant adaptation to the classroom reality (Cunha, 2015; Santos, Lopes, & Cravino, 2011; Saraiva, Lopes, Cravino, & Santos, 2012). In their pedagogical practice, teachers have to be involved in a very complex process, which includes decision making (Lloyd, 2017). Teachers are often confronted with unexpected situations that occur in the classroom, that is, situations that they did not expect to happen, having to react and make decisions (Aho, Haverinen, Juuso, Laukka, & Sutinen, 2010; Bishop, 1976; Shavelson & Stern, 1981). That is, while teaching, teachers follow their "mental script," a process that is interrupted when unexpected events arise in the classroom. This stopping forces teachers to redirect their focus of attention and react to the new situation (Shavelson & Stern, 1981). According to Bishop (1976), taking decisions is a central activity of the teaching process, because the teacher has to know what to do, and how to do it, in the face of unforeseen situations that occur in the classroom. For example, when students do not understand or do not answer a question, when there are students who want to respond and others who do not, or when students make a mistake, the teacher has to make a decision, given a range of choices (Bishop, 1976). For this researcher, knowing how teachers make their decisions allows an understanding of the objectives and intentions of their teaching and the attitudes and scientific development of the students, making it possible to establish relationships between teaching theories and classroom reality. Borko, Roberts, and Shavelson (2008), after analyzing studies about classroom decision making, concluded that it emerged as a response to students' comments, incorrect responses or performance, lack of understanding, or even unruly behavior. Faced with these situations, teachers react in time, making teaching decisions such as questioning students, selecting students to respond, or giving appropriate examples. Understanding how decisions are made can help to improve the practice of decision making (Patel, Kaufman, & Arocha, 2002) and consequently make teaching more effective (Schoenfeld, 2015). That is, the articulation between thought and action that occurs during decision making facilitates betterquality learning (Lloyd, 2017).

However, it is not yet clear how knowledge about the desired practice is linked to the actual practice (Borko et al., 2008). Lloyd (2017) argued that critical reflection on their teaching practice helps teachers

14 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: www.igi-global.com/chapter/dealing-with-unexpected-situations-in-theclassroom/222104?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

#### Nonlinear Structural Control Using Magnetorheological Damper

Shaikh Faruque Ali and Ananth Ramaswamy (2015). *Research Methods: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications (pp. 211-244).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/nonlinear-structural-control-using-magnetorheologicaldamper/124501?camid=4v1a

#### How Can Human Resource Management Help the Theory of Constraints

Brian J. Galli (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 1-13). www.igi-global.com/article/how-can-human-resource-management-help-the-theory-ofconstraints/219320?camid=4v1a

#### Work-Integrated Learning Praxis: Selecting a Research Paradigm

Bruce Calway (2017). *Methods and Paradigms in Education Research (pp. 278-289).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/work-integrated-learning-praxis/171003?camid=4v1a

#### Teaching Materials for Civil Engineers in a Slightly Different Way

Jonathan Oti (2019). Technology-Supported Teaching and Research Methods for Educators (pp. 111-127). www.igi-global.com/chapter/teaching-materials-for-civil-engineers-in-a-slightly-differentway/213061?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 4 How a Specific Task Was Developed Through Multimodal Narratives

**Domingos Kimpolo Nzau** 

Instituto de Educação em Ciência de Uíge (ISCED), Angola

## ABSTRACT

Multimodal narratives (MNs) in the teaching of science and technology seek to report many aspects of a pedagogical nature in a complete and holistic manner. This chapter shows how six teachers of physics, from Angolan elementary education, without adequate pedagogical or academic training to teach physics, specifically the Newtonian concept of force, worked on a task during an intensive teacher training course. The MNs documents the professional development of the teachers in particular showing how they appropriated a tool (a specific didactic model) that was object of the training. The results achieved, with the help of multimodal narratives to register the occurrences in the seminar, once again reveal that MNs are as valuable a pedagogical tool in teachers' teaching practices as in their professional development (PD).

#### INTRODUCTION

Studies of teachers' PD, focusing on the improvement of teaching practices, have considered a register of activities undertaken in the classroom in educational science as a valuable, powerful, and usable instrument, because it reports the teaching practices in a complete and holistic way in the MN form. According to the scholars who developed them, MNs are able to portray the events occurring in the classroom in great detail (Lopes et al., 2014).

#### How a Specific Task Was Developed Through Multimodal Narratives

Researching mediation in the classroom requires the didactic action to be captured as a whole; in these terms, an MN is taken as a narrative of the events that occurred in the classroom when a specific task was performed.

The different works developed in the MNs that this work presents show that these tasks are of different natures and even point out that it is imperative to take into account their pedagogical aspects, as the intention is to improve not only the teaching practices of science and technology (S&T) in schools but also other pedagogical aspects, for instance teachers' training.

#### Central Idea of the Study

In the context of the continuous training of teachers, this chapter aims to show, in relation to a specific task, that MNs can also support the PD processes of physics teachers in Angolan general education, using the conceptual fields of Vergnaud (1987), in particular the Newtonian concept of force, considered as interactions between material systems.

This aspect is pointed as out one of the difficulties that students face in identifying and justifying the forces applied in material systems (Dumas-Carré & Goffard, 1997; Nzau & Costa, 1992; Viennot, 2002) in the teaching and learning process. Diagrams of objects–interactions (Dumas-Carré & Goffard, 1997), which were suggested as a didactic approach by these scholars to resolve this difficulty, were also taken into account in this study, which used MNs as a tool for data collection.

#### Issues

The study sought to qualify teachers for teaching practice, which many authors, such as Meirink, Meijer, Verloop, and Bergen (2009), Mushyikwa and Lubben (2009), and Starkey et al. (2009), among others, have defended as a way to overcome the weaknesses detected in teachers. It involved a group of six physics teachers in an exercise; each teacher was designated by the first letter of his or her name (M, A, B, C, P, and R), and they belonging to three schools of basic education in Cabinda Province (Angola) without adequate academic training or pedagogical principles to teach physics, namely Tando Zinze, Luvassa, and Barão Puna schools (Nzau, 2010).

The study was based on a specific didactic model of the conceptual field of Newtonian force (Nzau, 2013; Nzau, Lopes, & Costa, 2012; Pinto & Nzau, 2017) in the conceptual field models of Vergnaud (1987).

#### Study Limitations

Improving the quality of teaching practices, including evidence-based practices for science teaching, while ignoring the nature of professional and epistemological knowledge was questioned by Bradforth et al. (2015), because the conceptual nature and professional knowledge have other components, one of which is the ability to choose the research results that are appropriate for the situation (Winch, Oancea, & Orchard, 2015).

This didactic model was adopted in this program because it is considered to be constructivist, using conceptual teaching (Weil-Barais, 1995) in the conceptual field (Lopes, 2004), which Vygotsky, Leontíev, and Galperin (cited by Fosnot, 1996) advocated as playing an important role in the teaching and

27 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: www.igi-global.com/chapter/how-a-specific-task-was-developed-throughmultimodal-narratives/222105?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

Sustainability: An Overview of the Triple Bottom Line and Sustainability Implementation Maria Salome Correia (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 29-38). www.igi-global.com/article/sustainability/219322?camid=4v1a

Sustainability: An Overview of the Triple Bottom Line and Sustainability Implementation Maria Salome Correia (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 29-38). www.igi-global.com/article/sustainability/219322?camid=4v1a

#### Discount Focus Subgroup Method: An Innovative Focus Group Method Used for Researching an Emerging Technology

Mohanad Halaweh (2015). Research Methods: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications (pp. 344-361).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/discount-focus-subgroup-method/124507?camid=4v1a

#### Scholars in the Digital Age: Social Scholarship and Practices

Jiahang Li, Christine Greenhow and Emilia Askari (2017). *Research 2.0 and the Impact of Digital Technologies on Scholarly Inquiry (pp. 1-16).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/scholars-in-the-digital-age/167432?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 5 Using Multimodal Narratives to Study Relationships Between Concepts

António Barbot Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

## ABSTRACT

In conceptual teaching and learning, relationships between concepts play a key role. This chapter describes a case where two conceptual fields, water and energy, were treated in order to promote understanding of relationships between them. It deals with the importance of "potential relationships" and describes how multimodal narratives contributed to those elucidations and to these practices in the classroom and their interpretation, as well as to the professional development of teachers. The chapter elucidates concept use, relating concepts, ways of discerning relationships between concepts, loss of relationship opportunities that were created by students, and ways of verifying that certain relationships were achieved.

#### INTRODUCTION

This chapter deals with part of a classroom study about two specific conceptual fields, water and energy. It focuses on the problematic of the relationship between them, and not on details about the two conceptual fields. The chapter assumes two main objectives: to promote multimodal narratives as an instrument to study relationships between concepts, and to help teachers to clarify topics and relationships to be treated.

The following problem was identified: the need for studies and educational interventions in the classroom environment to promote understanding of relationships between water and energy in teaching. The relationships between water and energy (RWE) are multiple, as evidenced by the Proclamation of the United Nations Decade of Education for Sustainable Development (2002) and the Johannesburg Declaration on Sustainable Development (2002). Mechanical energy is used to produce electricity. The energy of the sun commands the hydrological cycle. Energy is used to produce potable water. From water, hydrogen can be extracted to be used as fuel. Food energy comes from life created with water and energy from the sun, received or stored on the planet. In education, water and energy are studied.

But relationships are scarce in teaching and research (Barbot, Lopes, & Soares, 2010, 2011; Cerqueira & Barbot, 2010). Water is the origin of life on Earth; it is the dominant element in the constitution of living beings, and it modulates the energy fluxes of the planet, namely, energy transfers (Allan, 2011). Energy is the base factor in the functioning and evolution of the world, of the planet, and of all human beings. The principle of energy conservation is crucial.

In education, when water and energy are studied, they typically are studied separately. Students learn that they are important for the sustainability of the planet and in particular for life, in which the human species is included.

## THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

The study referred to in this chapter (Barbot, 2014) assumes a constructivist view, which has solid and documented theoretical and practical bases, and currently constitutes the core of science education research. The study assumes that learning is always present and always interested, but this study does not focus on the qualities and or quantities of learning and its evaluation. It focuses on physical situations, tasks, models, resources, and physical and virtual models, and it makes suggestions tested in class as to its usability, feasibility, the students' motivation, time required and resources required. All this is intended to explore in class what is the central object of the study: the relations between water and energy, and to build on contributions to teachers, offering possibilities and elucidating the potentialities to treat such relationships. In terms of the teaching-learning dyad, the study focuses on teaching.

Novak and Gowin (1984), referring to Ausubel, report that, in meaningful learning, individuals relate new knowledge with relevant concepts and propositions that they already know. Bruner (1997) points to the importance of the culturally shaped notions by which people organize their conceptions of themselves, of others and of the world in which they live. Buty, Badreddine and Régnier (2012) point to the importance of how knowledge relates one thing to other. Therefore, a concept is much more than a word, using a concept is much more than just saying it, and learning meaningfully implies relating.

The study was carried out by a teacher-researcher, as described by Griffiths (1985), who studied his own practice in a natural classroom environment in an example of action research. It also had case study characteristics (Bogdan & Biklen, 1994; Stenhouse, 1988). The study had the following specifications: it involved, in a school year, classes of Initial Teacher Training courses in a school of education; it dealt with the relationship of two specific conceptual fields (water and energy), focusing on the teaching aspect as a specific instance of the teaching practice.

To relate is to understand better. Establishing links, identifying causes and effects, and building rich conceptual networks means knowing significantly more and being better prepared for the profession and for active citizenship (Barbot, 2017a). But a concept is not just a word. A concept, according to several authors, among them Toulmin (1977), has two aspects: representation and use. It is constituted by symbolic representations – natural language – and by other symbolisms, such as equations and other mathematical formalisms, graphical representations, taxonomy and computer programs. Simultaneously, it is also constituted by specifications of its modes of use, application procedures, and scopes and validity contexts.

The main problem was the need for studies and educational interventions in the classroom environment to promote the understanding of relationships between two concepts (here, water and energy) in teaching. In educational research, a problem is a need that exists in some context and that does not allow 15 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: <u>www.igi-global.com/chapter/using-multimodal-narratives-to-study-</u> relationships-between-concepts/222106?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

#### Theory of Constraints and Human Resource Management Applications

Brian J. Galli (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 61-77). www.igi-global.com/article/theory-of-constraints-and-human-resource-managementapplications/219325?camid=4v1a

#### Detecting Electronic Initiators Using Electromagnetic Emissions

Colin Stagner, Sarah Seguin, Steve Grant and Daryl Beetner (2014). *Teaching Cases Collection (pp. 69-99).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/detecting-electronic-initiators-using-electromagneticemissions/106879?camid=4v1a

# Research Competence for Teaching Students With Disabilities Act (IDEA) in Russian General Education

Ekaterina Yuryevna Aleshina, Belyanina Lubov, Nikolai Tankov, Olga Simakova, Sedrak Sedrakyan, Anna Ahtyan and Ema Akhtian (2018). *Handbook of Research on Students' Research Competence in Modern Educational Contexts (pp. 151-171).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/research-competence-for-teaching-students-with-disabilities-actidea-in-russian-general-education/196470?camid=4v1a

#### Qualitative Case Study Research: An Initial Primer

Rochell R. McWhorter and Andrea D. Ellinger (2018). *Handbook of Research on Innovative Techniques, Trends, and Analysis for Optimized Research Methods (pp. 185-201).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/qualitative-case-study-research/197736?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 6 Looking at Linear Algebra Teaching Practices Through Multimodal Narratives

**Cecília Costa** Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

**Ricardo Gonçalves** Instituto Politécnico do Cávado e do Ave, Portugal

## ABSTRACT

There is a lack of research studies on teaching practices in higher education, which does not contribute to a greater and better reflection on the failure in some disciplines, namely in linear algebra. Multimodal narrative (MN) is a facilitator of research in this field. This chapter describes how the use of MN of linear algebra classes was done and allowed reflection on and modification of the practices. Formative situations are presented: 1) planned and successful, 2) planned and less achieved, 3) unexpected and successful, and 4) unexpected and less achieved. Two transversal aspects to the teaching sequence are also presented: use of technology and geometric approach. This study made it possible to recognize the MN's potential as a tool to "observe" and analyze linear algebra teaching practices in diverse aspects. It also shows that MN analysis allowed linear algebra teachers to promote their professional development regardless of the teacher's experience.

#### INTRODUCTION

During the 1960s, introductory linear algebra courses appeared for undergraduates, primarily intended for math and engineering majors (Uhlig, 2003). According to some researchers (Hillel, 2000; Kleiner, 2007; Tucker, 1993), linear algebra is the first full-fledged mathematical theory with which students have contact. It is traditionally taught through an axiomatic approach, which means starting from the axiomatic definition of vector space, followed by deduction of associated concepts and results.

*Vector, vector space, linear transformation, system of linear equations* and *matrix* are the basic concepts of linear algebra. All are abstract concepts (although some have a degree of abstraction greater than others), since they are secondary concepts, that is, concepts resulting from the action of the subject on other concepts, as happens with most mathematical concepts. This characteristic justifies part of the complexity attributed to mathematics and some of the difficulties presented by students. Next, an excerpt of a multimodal narrative (MN) (Multimodal Narrative Excerpt 1) is presented that is illustrative of the concept abstraction level of linear algebra and the students' reaction to it.

#### Multimodal Narrative Excerpt 1: Teacher R (Subspace of a Vector Space)

Beginning by attending to the axiom on the null vector belonging to the set, soon some of the students' confusions were revealed.

"So what do you say?"

"It has to be all zero," Hélder suggested.

"Or ... who is this, Hélder, right now? This one here, is what?" I asked, pointing to the V in the expression  $0v \in V[v \text{ being a vector of } V]$  that was still written on the board.

"A vector," said Juliana, also entering the discussion.

"It's x, y, z, is not it?" replied Hélder.

"No!" I said in alarm. "This is the generic vector space V."

Over the decades, linear algebra teachers have found many recurring difficulties expressed by students as well as failure to complete the course. On the one hand, teachers' frustration with students' learning difficulties was recurrent, because for them the reasoning associated with the various concepts were quite obvious (Dorier, 2000; Dorier, Robert, Robinet, & Rogalski, 2000); on the other hand, many students had the "feeling of landing on a new planet and are not able to find their way in this new world" (Dorier, 1998, p. 142). Linear algebra didactic studies identified as conceptual difficulties in linear algebra learning the knowledge of prerequisites (mainly in logic, set theory and analytical geometry) and the use of formalism (students are not prepared for the level of abstraction that is required) (Dorier & Sierpinska, 2001).

The questioning and reflection about the way linear algebra was taught led to curricular reforms in several countries. In the United States, the Linear Algebra Curriculum Study Group (LACSG) played a major role in the change of linear algebra curriculum during the 1990s (Carlson, Johnson, Lay, & Porter, 1993), with influence in other countries. For example, the recommendation to opt for a matrix approach (Carlson et al., 1993), i.e., to explore the concepts from the matrices and based on concrete and practical examples in place of the axiomatic approach, is recognized in Portugal, as evidenced by the programs of linear algebra in various engineering courses.

In addition to the emphasis given to the matrix approach, the studies and reflection carried out by the LACSG (Carlson et al., 1993) and by other researchers (e.g., Dorier & Sierpinska, 2001; Harel,

19 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: <u>www.igi-global.com/chapter/looking-at-linear-algebra-teaching-practices-</u> through-multimodal-narratives/222107?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

#### Theory of Constraints and Human Resource Management Applications

Brian J. Galli (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 61-77). www.igi-global.com/article/theory-of-constraints-and-human-resource-managementapplications/219325?camid=4v1a

#### Performing the Internet: Post-Internet Folklore

Nancy Mauro-Flude (2019). Digital Humanities and Scholarly Research Trends in the Asia-Pacific (pp. 200-227).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/performing-the-internet/220630?camid=4v1a

#### How Big Data Transforms Manufacturing Industry: A Review Paper

Victor I. C. Chang and Wanxuan Lin (2019). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 39-51).* www.igi-global.com/article/how-big-data-transforms-manufacturing-industry/219323?camid=4v1a

## Command, Control, and Interoperability Center for Advanced Data Analysis: A Department of Homeland Security Data Sciences Center of Excellence

Asamoah Nkwanta and Janet E. Barber (2014). *Teaching Cases Collection (pp. 39-67).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/command-control-and-interoperability-center-for-advanced-dataanalysis/106877?camid=4v1a

## Chapter 7 Using Multimodal Narratives in Professional Development to Support Collaborative Work: Improving Teaching Practices to Enhance Learning

**J. Bernardino Lopes** Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

## ABSTRACT

In this chapter, the authors discuss professional development (PD), self- and hetero-directed based on cases of physics education teachers in secondary and higher education and the role that multimodal narratives have in both processes. They adopt the PD perspective, which assumes that PD should be evaluated by its impact on teaching practices improvement. In this context, the PD aims to improve, incrementally, teaching practices. This process is difficult and complex and involves both teachers themselves and other professionals. Multimodal narratives (MN) are a tool that makes it possible to make teaching practices public and thus open to analysis by the teacher, other professionals, and researchers. The reported PD uses MNs as a tool that supports the teacher's collaborative work with peers and researchers. This collaborative work results in important incremental improvements in teaching practices.

#### INTRODUCTION

This chapter focuses on professional development (PD) centered on improving the quality of teaching practices with impact on student learning in line with the current definition of PD (Soebari & Aldridge, 2015). The PD of teachers involves multiple dimensions, one of which is the improvement of the quality of teaching practices and students' achievement (Desimone, 2009; Fischer et al., 2018). There may, however, be PD without there being improvement of teaching practices in classroom lessons (Bakkenes, Vermunt & Wubbels, 2010; Vescio, Ross, & Adams, 2008). The most recent conceptualization of PD

emphasizes that improving teaching practices in classroom lessons with effects on the quality of student learning is an essential component of the definition of PD (Desimone & Garet, 2015; Wei, Darling-Hammond, Andree, Richardson, & Orphanos, 2009). It is necessary, therefore, that teaching practice in the classroom be central to the PD itself (Vescio, Ross, & Adams, 2008; Wei et al., 2009). As teaching practices are difficult to change (Bakkenes et al., 2010; Lopes & Cunha, 2017; Morris & Hiebert, 2011; Osborne, 2014), it is necessary to consider PD as incremental: a PD that allows successive iterations of the teaching practice and verifying in what conditions a certain aspect of teaching practices, must be based on successive cycles of action research, each of them (Lopes & Cunha, 2017) with: (a) design of a proposal for teaching based on intentions, explicit didactics, past experience and research results; (b) implementation of the teaching practices and data collection; and (c) analysis of data collected to determine the effectiveness of teaching practices and seek new lines of action in teaching practices or refinements of them.

The central idea of this chapter is to show how a tool – Multimodal Narratives (Lopes et al., 2014) – that helps to collect, organize and aggregate data about classroom teaching practices can be used in PD (self- or hetero-directed) centered on teaching practices. The PD is based on collaborative processes of a teacher with peers or with researchers (Avalos, 2011). In these processes, Multimodal Narratives (MN) of lessons allow that: a) teachers collaborate with each other using the MN as a tool to identify objectively what promotes or inhibits students' learning; and b) researchers study the dynamics and processes of teaching and point out new directions. Thus, the main objectives of this chapter are:

Objective One: Conceptualize PD articulating teaching practices and research evidences.

- **Objective Two:** Show how PD centered on teaching practices can incrementally improve the quality of teaching practices and students' learning.
- **Objective Three:** Present the different roles that MN can play in promoting PD focused on teaching practices.

## A FRAMEWORK FOR PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ARTICULATING TEACHING PRACTICES AND RESEARCH EVIDENCES

Teaching practice in classroom lessons is an essential component of a teacher's professional practice in any curricular area. The teaching practice as a professional practice has a tacit dimension that articulates with the explicit dimension in a way that is different according to the theoretical perspective of the authors (Baird, 2004; Cook & Brown, 1999; Nonaka & Takeuchi, 1995; Winch, Oancea, & Orchard, 2015). Understanding the nature of teaching practice is important because only then is it possible to conceive and frame the theoretical and practical problems that its improvement involves.

Cook and Brown (1999) and Nonaka and Takeuchi (1995) conceive professional knowledge as a combination of four areas of professional development. Two are epistemological in nature: (a) explicit individual knowledge (which refers to the conceptual knowledge appropriated by individuals) and (b) tacit individual knowledge (which refers to the know-how an individual reveals only in situations and actions). The remaining two are ontological in nature: (a) explicit knowledge of the group (which refers to shared knowledge among individuals in a group or institution and manifests itself in the shared culture

23 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: <u>www.igi-global.com/chapter/using-multimodal-narratives-in-professional-</u> development-to-support-collaborative-work/222109?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

#### Digital Forensic Investigation of Social Media, Acquisition and Analysis of Digital Evidence

Reza Montasari, Richard Hill, Victoria Carpenter and Farshad Montaseri (2019). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 52-60).* 

www.igi-global.com/article/digital-forensic-investigation-of-social-media-acquisition-and-analysisof-digital-evidence/219324?camid=4v1a

#### Blockchain for Strengthening the Privacy of Healthcare Data

Stefan Kendzierskyj, Hamid Jahankhani and SHU I. Ndumbe (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 14-28).

www.igi-global.com/article/blockchain-for-strengthening-the-privacy-of-healthcaredata/219321?camid=4v1a

#### Action Research and Open Innovation: A Synergy?

Elisabeth Fruijtier (2018). Cross-Disciplinary Approaches to Action Research and Action Learning (pp. 19-39).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/action-research-and-open-innovation/190329?camid=4v1a

#### Risk Management Research Design Ideologies, Strategies, Methods, and Techniques

Kenneth David Strang (2015). *Research Methods: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications (pp. 362-389).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/risk-management-research-design-ideologies-strategies-methodsand-techniques/124508?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 8 Using Multimodal Narratives in Teacher Education

José Alexandre Pinto Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

### ABSTRACT

Teacher training processes must incorporate a reflective dimension as a strategy for professional development. The pursuit of a professional identity and the need to give personal meaning to theoretical principles grounds the emergence of young teachers' reflection. In this chapter, multimodal narrative (MN) is presented as a tool to support reflexive approaches in the development of teachers' professional knowledge. The data collected about the perspectives of student teachers and supervisors who experienced the use of MN show the interest of these actors about the tool and about the processes of its use. This chapter presents and discusses constraints identified throughout the pilot study of using a MN in teacher training that the authors developed. It also presents a proposal for the use of MN in the context of initiation of the professional practice that includes an adapted version of the MN tool and a phased process of its use.

### INTRODUCTION

As future education professionals, teachers during their training need to develop a set of skills that enable them to establish a theory-practice dialectic. In this sense, the adoption of a reflexive attitude proves extremely important for their professional future. It is up to the teacher to take a proactive attitude toward the research premise and view it as a training strategy.

This chapter attempts to contribute to ensure an enriching experience for young teachers during their professional practice initiation. The present work try to value the perspective of those who have undergone this challenge but also those who, with more experience, take responsibility to follow them in order to become better professionals. Thus, the focus of this work is on the day-to-day work of teacher trainers and student teachers, particularly in supervising and internship tasks. The importance of the vocational training dimension in teacher education courses is well identified if one considers its preponderance

in the curricular background for teaching qualification in Portugal. This principle is in harmony with guidelines that emphasize training within the teaching profession (Nóvoa, 2009; Perrenoud, 1998).

The multimodal narrative (MN), as a document, is a written story of a class, with a timeline, and describes all events that take place in the classroom. The MN is focused on actions and languages adopted by the teacher and students during the accomplishment of a task. Its characteristics allow the preservation of the holistic and complex nature of teaching practices.

MN characteristics have aroused the present authors' attention by their potential to incite reflection and to nourish it by the richness and objectivity of the classroom objects and the events that they provide. Next, this chapter presents the authors' work, explaining the context and its actors, which refers to an attempt to value the processes of initial teacher training, in a professional context, incorporating the use of MNs in the training practices.

The authors sought clues, based on the perspective of the student teachers and supervisors, to establish a functional proposal, recognized by the individuals involved and with potential to increase value in the supervising process, throughout a reflective approach.

The pathway was oriented toward the promotion and deepening of reflection, in an attempt to interpret the reality of the classroom. The work was based on collected data, namely, on information, doubts and feelings of the student teachers. The first aim was to provide student teachers with a space for reflection that would challenge them to think about the dynamics of their classes. In this way, the authors intend student teachers to identify what they consider appropriate in view of building their autonomy and professional knowledge. In this sense, the main objectives are defined as: to design a way to operationalize the integration of MN in the process of internship supervision and to evaluate the perspective of student teachers and in-service teachers regarding their interest in the MN in the internship context.

#### SUPERVISION AND REFLECTIVE TEACHER TRAINING

From the perspective of many authors, teacher training must be structured around reflection as a strategy for valuing pedagogical practice and the development of professional autonomy. This perspective of teachers' education presents itself in an opposite direction to a vision of a prescriptive and external matrix in which teachers fundamentally seek the application and propagation of normative pedagogy perceived as effective (e.g., Alarcão & Roldão, 2010; Sá-Chaves, 2000; Schön, 1987; Zeichner & Liston, 2014).

Assuming the purpose of a reflective teachers' education, it is expected that, in contrast to assuming a role of users of knowledge developed by the academies, teachers can themselves assume a posture of reflective practice by throwing their critical point of view on such knowledge, contextualizing it in their practice (Farrell & Ives, 2015; Wallace, 1991). A significant part of the life experiences of all young teachers is related to their experiences as students. These experiences support their convictions, beliefs, attitudes and values about the meaning of teaching and learning. It is essential to consider such prior and personal knowledge, as it can hinder change and innovation. In this context, it is crucial to support changing teachers' beliefs (Brownlee, Ferguson, & Ryan, 2017). It is in this perspective that Handal and Lauvås (1987) consider that one of the main functions of supervision is to develop the teachers' practical theories, making them sensitive to change.

Theory and practice are two central concepts in teacher education. As Korthagen (2012) warns, it is easy to pull the training process to one of these extremes. On the one hand, adopting a theory-in-practice

16 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: www.igi-global.com/chapter/using-multimodal-narratives-in-teachereducation/222110?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

#### Software-Assisted Transcribing for Qualitative Interviews: Practical Guidelines

Taghreed Justinia (2015). Enhancing Qualitative and Mixed Methods Research with Technology (pp. 231-254).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/software-assisted-transcribing-for-qualitativeinterviews/117523?camid=4v1a

#### Delphi Method in a Digital Age: Practical Considerations for Online Delphi Studies

Christine A. Haynes and Kaye Shelton (2018). *Handbook of Research on Innovative Techniques, Trends, and Analysis for Optimized Research Methods (pp. 132-151).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/delphi-method-in-a-digital-age/197733?camid=4v1a

#### Blockchain for Strengthening the Privacy of Healthcare Data

Stefan Kendzierskyj, Hamid Jahankhani and SHU I. Ndumbe (2019). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 14-28).* 

www.igi-global.com/article/blockchain-for-strengthening-the-privacy-of-healthcaredata/219321?camid=4v1a

## The Evaluation of Engineering Properties of Low Cost Concrete Blocks by Partial Doping of Sand with Sawdust: Low Cost Sawdust Concrete Block

Pius Rodney Fernando, T. Hamigah, S. Disne, G. G. A. K. Wickramasingha and A. Sutharshan (2018). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 26-42).* 

www.igi-global.com/article/the-evaluation-of-engineering-properties-of-low-cost-concrete-blocksby-partial-doping-of-sand-with-sawdust/204389?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 9 Multimodal Narratives as a Tool for In–Service Teachers in an Online Professional Development Course

Daniela Pedrosa Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

**Gonçalo Cruz** Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal & Universidade Aberta, Portugal

> Leonel Morgado Universidade Aberta, Portugal & LE@D, Portugal

## ABSTRACT

This chapter presents how multimodal narratives were employed as a self-reflection tool within an online professional development program for in-service teacher training at Universidade Aberta, Portugal during two editions of a pedagogic practice course. The chapter includes the aspects that raised issues and those that trainees performed correctly. This is done in three stages: beforehand, upon initial contact with multimodal narratives, and after providing feedback to trainees. The most relevant issues were in aspects directly required to enrich the narrative. Aspects related to multimodal narrative structure and features were completed successfully. It is recommended that future attempts to employ multimodal narratives in this context adapt learning resources and pedagogic support practices by employing formative feedback and continual support during the trainees' process of exploring and exploiting multimodal narratives.

## INTRODUCTION

The "Pedagogic Practices Seminar" course took place at Universidade Aberta (UAb), Portugal, in the second semester of the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 school years, as part of an online training program for the in-service professional development of teachers. This was a formal, non-graduation program.

The trainees were active non-higher education teachers who aimed to qualify for recruitment group 550 (Computing) of the Portuguese Ministry of Education.

The goal of this course is for students to develop scientific and pedagogic skills for creating and developing pedagogic projects in computing education. They must identify, reflect upon and solve learning issues, combining pedagogic and research components to improve their practices and their professional development. Hence, it is important to provide trainees with knowledge of research techniques that enable them to develop those competences, one of them being multimodal narratives (MNs). MNs are typically documents that describe chronologically, in a self-contained and multimodal way, what a teacher and students do and say in a given context of teaching and learning (Lopes et al., 2014), incorporating multimodal data. They are drawn up in accordance with the guidelines of a protocol defining three stages of implementation: data collection, preparation of the MN and validation. In this way, a MN is a self-contained and concise document that can be analyzed later, avoiding the difficulty of dealing with multiple data sources (*ibid.*). MNs are indeed tools in support of teaching and professional development, since they help teachers understand their decision-making process and the intent of their actions (Lopes et al., 2010). They enable teachers to observe the actual events within their classes (sometimes distinct from their initial perceptions or recollections), and they facilitate the identification of which pedagogic strategies were most effective (ibid.). They hold the potential to help improve teachers' professional development (Lopes et al., 2014).

There were several learning activities in the Pedagogic Practices Seminar course. The contact of trainees with MNs took place in the third, fourth and sixth topics of the course, which involved the trainees in reading about their use and then creating several MNs related to episodes in their current professional practice.

The initial contact with the MN technique was in the third topic.

This chapter identifies which aspects raised the most significant issues upon first contact as well as those that were correctly performed by the trainees, over two editions of this course (2015/2016 and 2016/2017). The same analysis was done after providing formative feedback (which was provided only in the 2016/2017 edition).

In both editions of the course, the trainees' initial contact with MNs was challenging, both regarding its initial use and its improvement.

Four categories were analyzed, referring to essential aspects of a MN: Category 1 – *Presents the essential aspects of a MN*; Category 2 – *Presents a well-structured MN*; Category 3 – *Narrating an episode with its essential aspects* and Category 4 – *Enriching the MN*. Most issues occurred in categories 3 and 4, i.e., the aspects that detail and enrich a MN.

In categories 1 (*Presents the essential aspects of a MN*) and 2 (*Presents a well-structured MN*), which are related to MN structure and features, even though several issues emerged, these were infrequent and/ or solved after providing feedback (2016/2017 edition only). Therefore, the results suggest that in both editions (2015/2016 and 2016/2017), the students understood the importance of the MN and satisfactorily identified the main features of a MN.

It is also possible to conclude that formative feedback is essential for students to identify, reflect upon and improve their processes for creating a MN. This arises from observing that trainees of the 2016/2017 edition, who had the opportunity to improve their assignments after receiving feedback, managed to overcome and understand their shortcomings in executing a MN. 18 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: <u>www.igi-global.com/chapter/multimodal-narratives-as-a-tool-for-in-service-</u> teachers-in-an-online-professional-development-course/222111?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

#### Analysing Blogs in Market Research

Leng Ho Keat (2015). *Market Research Methodologies: Multi-Method and Qualitative Approaches (pp. 118-136).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/analysing-blogs-in-market-research/117412?camid=4v1a

#### Theory of Constraints and Human Resource Management Applications

Brian J. Galli (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 61-77). www.igi-global.com/article/theory-of-constraints-and-human-resource-managementapplications/219325?camid=4v1a

#### Digital Forensic Investigation of Social Media, Acquisition and Analysis of Digital Evidence

Reza Montasari, Richard Hill, Victoria Carpenter and Farshad Montaseri (2019). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 52-60).* 

www.igi-global.com/article/digital-forensic-investigation-of-social-media-acquisition-and-analysisof-digital-evidence/219324?camid=4v1a

### How Continuous Improvement Can Support Logistics: A Reflection of Best Practices Brian J. Galli (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 1-23). www.igi-global.com/article/how-continuous-improvement-can-supportlogistics/196601?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 10 Improving Visual Representations' Impact in Mathematics Teaching With Multimodal Narratives

Paula Montenegro Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

**Cecília Costa** Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

J. Bernardino Lopes Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

### ABSTRACT

This chapter focuses on the impact that multimodal narratives (MN), elaborated to a first intervention (MN1) and to a succession of interventions (MN2), had in the professional development of a teacher to increase the impact of visual representations in the teaching and learning of mathematical content. The study follows an interpretative paradigm, with design science research and case study investigation methods. The participants are two groups of students (mean age 10.7 years and 11.3 years) and their Mathematics teacher. The data were collected from the students' written records, lesson plans, and teacher's notes. The data collected were organized in a MN. The results show that the MN is a tool that facilitates the process of professional development at the self-reflection level and in combination with researchers. The authors conclude that MN is an efficient and useful tool for professional development that aims to improve teaching practices and student learning.

### INTRODUCTION

This chapter refers to the intermediate phase of a research study with the general objective of exploring ways to increase the impact of the use of visual representation as an epistemic tool in teaching and learning different mathematical contents of basic education. In the initial phase of the study, specifici-

#### Improving Visual Representations' Impact in Mathematics Teaching With Multimodal Narratives

ties of the use of visual representations in teaching were identified that were not evident either to the teacher (first author) or to the students; this led to the need for a professional development phase to better understand the identified specificities and explore ways to improve the impact of the use of visual representations (Montenegro, Costa, & Lopes, 2018). During this stage of professional development, the teacher used a multimodal narrative (MN1) (already done in the first phase of the research study) to start her professional development process; she further elaborated and analyzed a multimodal narrative (MN2) to record her reflections and organize the data she collected about her attempts to enhance the impact of the use of visual representation as an epistemic tool in classroom activities and what she considered relevant for this purpose.

The objective of this chapter is to evaluate the importance of multimodal narratives in the teacher's self-reflection and to develop her knowledge about the use of visual representations in teaching and learning, exploring ways to increase the impact of their use in the classroom.

The constant adaptation of mathematics curricula, together with the changes in competencies evidenced by students resulting from curricular changes, bring teachers to a continuous need for professional development.

According to Ponte (1994), the need for growth and various acquisitions is recognized in professional development, and the role of the fundamental subject is attributed to the teacher himself. Thus, the teacher is in constant development and it is up to him/her to decide when, how, and what s/he wants to study, or to get involved in a given project. However, the training provided is not always adequate to the needs of certain teachers' professional development. This was the case for the teacher of our study, which is why she opted to become involved in a well-structured professional development based on research on her own practices, developed in collaboration with two researchers in a PhD scope.

Through her experience as both a teacher and as a learner, the teacher was convinced that visual representations played an important role in teaching and learning. She received positive feedback from students when using visual representations in teaching, but she did not understand the reasons why students were reluctant to use them.

That is why we look for an answer to the following problem: what actions should the teacher take to improve her teaching practice using visual representations? In more detail, we seek to know how to use a visual representation to represent a mathematical concept, how to do a demonstration using a visual representation, how to explain something through a visual representation, or how to use a visual representation to get to other types of more abstract representation—for example, algebraic. In this chapter, we focus on identifying the role of MNs and how they were used in the professional development process of the teacher to enhance teaching practice using visual representations.

#### THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Although tolerated, the use of visual representations in mathematics teaching and learning is not accepted by teachers and students with the same status as other more widely used representations (e.g., arithmetic and algebraic) (Montenegro, Costa, & Lopes, 2018). Hence, a phase of professional development is needed to explore ways of using visual representations in teaching. A professional development model focused on the improvement of teaching practices in line with the most recent conceptualization (Soebari & Aldridge, 2015) is adopted, based on the articulation with research on teachers' own teaching practices (Fischer et al., 2018; Lopes & Cunha, 2017).

18 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: <u>www.igi-global.com/chapter/improving-visual-representations-impact-in-</u> mathematics-teaching-with-multimodal-narratives/222112?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

#### Comparative Performance Evaluation of Effects of Modifier in Asphaltic Concrete Mix

Muhammad Zafar Ali Shah, Uneb Gazder, Muhammad Sharif Bhatti and Muhammad Hussain (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 13-25). www.igi-global.com/article/comparative-performance-evaluation-of-effects-of-modifier-inasphaltic-concrete-mix/204388?camid=4v1a

#### How Big Data Transforms Manufacturing Industry: A Review Paper

Victor I. C. Chang and Wanxuan Lin (2019). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 39-51).* www.igi-global.com/article/how-big-data-transforms-manufacturing-industry/219323?camid=4v1a

## Soft Systems Methodology (SSM) as an Interdisciplinary Approach: Reflection on the Use of SSM in Adoption of Web 2.0 Applications in Omani Academic Libraries

Rahma Al-Kharousi, Nabhan Harith Al-Harrasi, Naeema H. Jabur and Abdelmajed Bouazza (2018). *Promoting Interdisciplinarity in Knowledge Generation and Problem Solving (pp. 243-257).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/soft-systems-methodology-ssm-as-an-interdisciplinaryapproach/190523?camid=4v1a

Whose Side Are We On?: A Call for Critical Solidarity With Participants in Education Research Michael L. Boucher Jr. (2019). *Scholarly Publishing and Research Methods Across Disciplines (pp. 93-109).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/whose-side-are-we-on/217549?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 11 Assessing Teaching Practices Development With Multimodal Narratives

Ana Edite Cunha Escola Secundária S. Pedro de Vila Real, Portugal

### ABSTRACT

This chapter focuses on teachers' professional development, on the task design and on experimental work, as well as on the role of the teachers' mediation in the quality of student learning. The research problem was how the teacher can promote self-directed professional development, namely, improving the quality of teaching practices to influence the quality of students' learning, in their engagement in experimental tasks and epistemic practices. A longitudinal research methodology was followed during 10 years, based on a qualitative case study, from a curricular approach in secondary education. The analysis of data collection on teaching practices and students' learning over time and the teachers' professional pathways allow to formulate the following conclusions: (1) new traits of teaching practices were identified that promote students' productive engagement; (2) changes to the task design were enough to trigger differences in teachers' mediation, with consequences for students' epistemic practices and their productive engagement.

### INTRODUCTION

The essence of this work was devoted to the professional development of a teacher, focused on improving the quality of his teaching practices (planning and teaching practice), in particular considering the conception of experimental tasks and effective mediation in the classroom.

In this way, a curriculum (tasks) of physics and chemistry for secondary education was designed, implemented and evaluated, based on the execution of experimental work in the physics component, taught in the 10th and 11th years of schooling, based on teacher mediation, to promote students' productive engagement in tasks and students' quality epistemic practices.

#### Assessing Teaching Practices Development With Multimodal Narratives

During the execution of this work, reflections were made on the performance of the professor and subsequent changes were made, when necessary. In particular, the study of the role in learning of tasks in experimental teaching – namely, its characteristics, classroom management, and student appropriation, as well as its use as an instrumental tool – was undertaken to develop knowledge, skills and attitudes, as well as to promote epistemic practices in students.

In teaching, by epistemic practice is understood the work that the student does to accomplish a task with a view to the construction of scientific knowledge, having as reference the activity of scientists. To engage in an epistemic practice, the student has to mobilize prior knowledge and has to build scientific knowledge. Epistemic practices should be induced and improved by the teacher, even those that, in some cases, may occur "spontaneously."

The question of research that is considered to help solve the research problem is presented below: What aspects of teaching practices (in task design and effective mediation) have changed over time? The main objectives of this research are:

- To study the influence of increasing the quality of teaching practices on student engagement and on epistemic practices.
- To characterize the influence of the use of multimodal narratives (MNs) on professional development with an impact on teaching practices.

#### BACKGROUND

Being a teacher requires that one constantly adapt to the reality of the moment and continuously update the knowledge to be taught.

After acquiring competences inherent to the activity of teaching, teachers' professional development and the process of improvement are done continuously, always keeping in mind the goal of achieving excellence. In order to develop professionally, teachers must be careful to update themselves by staying informed about the most appropriate methodologies, as well as all that appear recently.

It was necessary to reflect on methods or strategies that aim to increase teacher-student and studentstudent interaction (Berland, et al., 2016) and increase the taste for learning science in general and physics in particular. This practical problem was assumed as a research problem and was based on the professional development of a teacher focused on improving the quality of his teaching practices (planning and teaching practice) to improve student learning. It was necessary to realize that curricular modifications had to be carried out, to design pertinent tasks that aimed at the development of learning objectives and to design the way in which they would be implemented. From year to year, more modifications were introduced, taking into account not only the literature but also the reflections on the practice carried out until then. The detailed analysis of the practice developed within the classroom is a method well known and used over time for the professional development of teachers. In order to analyze in detail how this lesson has been developed in various possible ways, teachers should record their class (audio or video). The classroom space is a place where teachers and students (who are human) express emotions in interpersonal relationships of the most varied possible sensations, making teaching and learning unique in each class. A simple audio or video recording, and its simple transcription, is not enough to allow description and study of the relationships established within the classroom between teachers and 18 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: www.igi-global.com/chapter/assessing-teaching-practices-development-withmultimodal-narratives/222113?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

The Black Academy: A Renaissance Seen Through a Paradigmatic Prism Mark Rose (2017). *Methods and Paradigms in Education Research (pp. 326-343)*. www.igi-global.com/chapter/the-black-academy/171007?camid=4v1a

## Professional Competence of Teachers and Administration of General Education Institutions for Teaching Student With Disability as a Technology

Sedrak Sedrakyan, Ashik Marandzhyan, Bronius Aismontas and Lana Tyulikova (2018). *Handbook of Research on Students' Research Competence in Modern Educational Contexts (pp. 454-472).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/professional-competence-of-teachers-and-administration-of-general-education-institutions-for-teaching-student-with-disability-as-a-technology/196489?camid=4v1a

#### Digital Forensic Investigation of Social Media, Acquisition and Analysis of Digital Evidence

Reza Montasari, Richard Hill, Victoria Carpenter and Farshad Montaseri (2019). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 52-60).* 

www.igi-global.com/article/digital-forensic-investigation-of-social-media-acquisition-and-analysisof-digital-evidence/219324?camid=4v1a

#### Design-Based Case Study: Refining Interventions Through Systematic, Iterative Methods

Cynthia C. M. Deaton and Jacquelynn A. Malloy (2018). *Handbook of Research on Innovative Techniques, Trends, and Analysis for Optimized Research Methods (pp. 50-62).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/design-based-case-study/197728?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 12 Using Multimodal Narratives in Science and Technology Education Research

José Paulo Cravino

Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal & Centro de Investigação em Didática e Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal

#### ABSTRACT

This chapter begins by presenting how multimodal narratives were developed and how they have evolved in time as a research tool. Their characteristics are explained, as well as their potential for use in research studies. One important aspect discussed in this chapter is the versatility of this tool, which allows for many possible investigative approaches. In particular, it addresses how multimodal narratives can be used to carry out studies in science and technology education research. Several examples are provided of such studies that were developed within a research community which has been working with multimodal narratives for over a decade.

#### INTRODUCTION

This chapter starts by introducing the need for a new research tool and how a research group went about developing it in the context of a research project. Over time, this tool became known as multimodal narratives. Their characteristics are described, how they are produced, and how they are validated, as well as some of the difficulties in this process. Since one of the main characteristics of multimodal narratives is their versatility, how they may be used in different research approaches is discussed. To support this claim, and to provide a better insight into how multimodal narratives have been used, several examples are presented and discussed to highlight the contribution of this research tool. The goal of this chapter is to inform the reader what a multimodal narrative is, how it is produced and validated, and how it may be used to study various research problems. It is hoped that this chapter may inspire others to use this tool in their own research studies.

#### BACKGROUND

This section describes the development and evolution of multimodal narratives as research tools.

Multimodal narratives (MNs) were developed within a research group based at the University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro in Vila Real, Portugal, dedicated at the time to a research project on the teaching of physical sciences in the classroom. This project was about the teacher mediation of student learning in physical sciences lessons (project 'Guiding principles and tools for fostering teacher mediation in physical sciences' classes', funded by Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia under grant number PTDC/CED/66699/2006). One of the goals of the project was to contribute to improve both teachers' mediation and the quality of students' learning. Relevant empirical data were therefore necessary, in particular empirical evidence from the classroom. This approach focused on the classroom posed a particular problem in collecting, organizing, and processing data on classroom-based teaching. The intention was to collect data about teaching and learning taking place in the classroom that were reliable and useful for research, but with minimum disruption to the actors in the classroom, and preserving the holistic character of the classroom in all its complexity.

The obvious solution—and widely described in numerous studies and research methods handbooks is to video or audio record lessons. Then the recordings should be transcribed for analysis. It should be noted that at the time some computer programs were already available to assist in qualitative data analysis, and in particular in the content analysis of texts. For example, NVivo 7 was at that time a recent evolution of the NUD\*IST software (Numerical Unstructured Data Indexing Searching and Theorizing). There were also other software programs, such as ATLAS.ti, MAXQDA, and QDA MINER. Later, a web-based software was created by Portuguese researchers from the University of Aveiro (webQDA). All these programs allowed the analysis of content based on text files, although it was already possible to work directly on audio or video files with some of them.

However, the main problem that the research group faced was the need to capture the lesson in its integrity and not just the dialogues between teacher and students, which would be easy to capture with audio recordings. The video recording makes it possible to better capture the lesson globally, using multiple camcorders, but this strategy poses some problems: it is quite intrusive and there are many obstacles to recording images in the classroom due to the need for multiple authorizations and privacy issues. Schools and students' parents are very sensitive to these problems. On the other hand, to capture the lesson in a more holistic way, it is usually necessary to use multiple cameras in order to capture both global views and the level of groups or individuals, whether in terms of sound or of image.

Excluding the possibility of collecting data through video recordings, the remaining option was therefore to use only audio recordings. However, these record only the most audible interactions in the classroom—typically the teacher's speech and the interactions between the teacher and his or her students. Of course, it is possible to use several audio recorders strategically placed around the classroom to maximize the capture of what is said, but it is complex to synchronize all interactions and it increases intrusion, potentially compromising the spontaneity of the interactions.

On the other hand, though audio recordings capture (if conditions are appropriate) what is said in the classroom, they do not capture what is written or drawn, the gestures, the expressions, and everything else that occurs in a classroom that is not spoken speech. And a lot of what happens in the classroom is not spoken speech, as the examples just cited show.

15 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: <a href="https://www.igi-global.com/chapter/using-multimodal-narratives-in-science-and-technology-education-research/222115?camid=4v1">www.igi-global.com/chapter/using-multimodal-narratives-in-science-and-technology-education-research/222115?camid=4v1</a>

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

## Algorithms and Methods Inspired from Nature for Solving Supply Chain and Logistics Optimization Problems: A Survey

Georgios Dounias and Vassilios Vassiliadis (2015). *Research Methods: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications (pp. 245-275).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/algorithms-and-methods-inspired-from-nature-for-solving-supplychain-and-logistics-optimization-problems/124502?camid=4v1a

#### The Impact of Online Learning on Global Intellectual Property Issues

Pamela A. Lemoine, P. Thomas Hackett and Michael D. Richardson (2017). *Scholarly Communication and the Publish or Perish Pressures of Academia (pp. 279-311).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/the-impact-of-online-learning-on-global-intellectual-property-issues/169466?camid=4v1a

How Can Human Resource Management Help the Theory of Constraints Brian J. Galli (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 1-13). www.igi-global.com/article/how-can-human-resource-management-help-the-theory-ofconstraints/219320?camid=4v1a

#### A Literature Review on Alkali Silica Reactivity of Concrete: Consequences and Challenges

Muhammad Junaid Munir, Syed Minhaj Saleem Kazmi, Yu-Fei Wu and Indubhushan Patnaikuni (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 43-62). www.igi-global.com/article/a-literature-review-on-alkali-silica-reactivity-of-

concrete/204390?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 13 Researching Epistemic Practices Development With Multimodal Narratives

Elisa Saraiva

Escola D. Maria II de Vila Nova de Famalicão, Portugal & Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

## ABSTRACT

This chapter describes an empirical study using multimodal narratives for research into students' development of epistemic practices in the classroom. Multimodal narratives can give access to classroom events, preserving their complex and holistic nature. Through content analysis, they allow a good comprehension of the multimodal nature of teaching and learning practices. The results of this work highlight the importance of multimodal narratives as a research instrument. Their importance is based on the richness of elements they contain that allow the identification, categorization, and characterization of teacher mediation actions that promote, scaffold, and enlarge students' epistemic practice development. This chapter seeks to describe both their multiple potentialities as an instrument and their limitations when researching the development of students' epistemic practices in the physical sciences classroom.

### INTRODUCTION

This chapter describes an empirical study using multimodal narratives (MNs) as an instrument for research about teachers' mediation actions that influence the development of students' epistemic practices in the classroom. The study intends to identify and characterize teacher mediation actions that promote, sustain, and enlarge students' epistemic work. The use of MN as a research instrument allows the achievement of a good level of understanding about teacher mediation actions that can promote and scaffold students' work in the classroom when engaged in social practices that lead to knowledge construction in the classroom. This study intends to highlight the role played by MN as a research instrument, elaborating its multiple potentialities and limitations when used for the identification and characterization of teacher mediation actions that can promote and enlarge the development of students' epistemic practices in the classroom.

Researching students' epistemic practices as they occur in the classroom remains an important issue: it is important to know more about the cognitive, discursive, and social activities in which students are engaged to develop their understanding of scientific knowledge and to produce, communicate, and evaluate knowledge (Kelly, 2008; Sandoval, 2005). For research in this field of knowledge, and for teachers' professional development, it is very important to know more about teachers' mediation actions that influence the quality and variety of students' epistemic practices in the classroom. The teacher's mediating role is crucial in promoting and sustaining a learning environment that enables the acquisition of rich and diverse conceptual and epistemological knowledge: teachers need to develop professional knowledge about their actions and about their impact on students' epistemic work in the classroom. That is why the main focus of this research is the identification of teachers' mediation actions that influence the quality and variety of students' epistemic practices. This research work intends to investigate teachers' mediation actions and the occurrence of students' epistemic practices, but without interfering with the natural environment of the classroom. The research question focuses on the identification of teacher mediation actions and their influence, and the occurrence and development of students' epistemic practices in the classroom. For that, MN was adopted as the research instrument. The richness of the different elements that MN contains allows the identification of "different modes, modalities, means, languages, resources and spatial and temporal organization adopted by teachers in the classroom" (Lopes et al., 2010, p. 16) and students' engagement in investigative activities in the classroom (Sandoval & Millwood, 2005).

### RELEVANCE OF EPISTEMIC PRACTICES FOR STUDENTS' LEARNING

Students' engagement in epistemic practices, as claimed by some authors (Berland et al., 2016; Duschl & Grandy, 2013; Jiménez-Aleixandre & Crujeiras, 2017; Krist, 2016; Osborne, 2014), is crucial for the development of a deeper understanding about the nature of scientific knowledge and the process of its construction. It is essential that learning about scientific concepts should not be separated from learning about the practices used in the production of scientific knowledge (Duschl & Grandy, 2013). According to the authors listed, there must be a change from an education focused on just what you know (e.g., facts and skills) to an education focused on how we know what we know.

Teaching and learning science requires significant and productive student engagement (Engle & Conant, 2002; Mortimer et al., 2014) in social practices for the construction of knowledge, including the elaboration of theories and models, the construction of arguments, and the use of different forms of communication and representations of concepts or phenomena (Duschl & Grandy, 2013). Such epistemic practices emerge from the investigative activities carried out by students in the classroom (Sandoval & Millwood, 2005) and have as a reference the work done by scientists in the context of producing scientific knowledge. The epistemic practices must emerge from students' attempts to solve a problem or task, "mobilizing prior knowledge and using procedures like description, representation, prediction and so on" (Lopes, Branco, & Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2011, p.2).

Thus, epistemic practices may be defined as the social activities of the production, communication, and evaluation of scientific knowledge (Kelly, 2008; Kelly & Duschl, 2002; Kelly, McDonald, & Wickman, 2012; Sandoval, 2005) that give students the opportunity to develop positive attitudes about science and ways of doing science. Students' engagement in scientific practices in the classroom gives them more authority and makes them more competent in the application of scientific knowledge in the real context (Lopes et al., 2011). 16 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: www.igi-global.com/chapter/researching-epistemic-practices-developmentwith-multimodal-narratives/222116?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

#### Principals and Student Achievement: A Comparative Study of Eight Countries

S. Marshall Perry, Karen M. Sealy, Héctor X. Ramírez-Pérez, Thomas C. DeNicola and Yair Cohen (2018). *Maximizing Social Science Research Through Publicly Accessible Data Sets (pp. 84-117).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/principals-and-student-achievement/190071?camid=4v1a

#### How Economic Decisions Are Made in Public vs. Private Sectors: A Comparison of Methods

Brian J. Galli (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 38-47). www.igi-global.com/article/how-economic-decisions-are-made-in-public-vs-privatesectors/196603?camid=4v1a

#### Blockchain for Strengthening the Privacy of Healthcare Data

Stefan Kendzierskyj, Hamid Jahankhani and SHU I. Ndumbe (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 14-28).

www.igi-global.com/article/blockchain-for-strengthening-the-privacy-of-healthcaredata/219321?camid=4v1a

Analyzing Qualitative Data: Visualizing Lived Experiences through Poems and Photography Carolyn N. Stevenson (2016). *Mixed Methods Research for Improved Scientific Study (pp. 123-147).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/analyzing-qualitative-data/147771?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 14 Researching Science and Technology Teachers' Decisions Through Multimodal Narratives

**Carla Aguiar dos Santos** 

Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal & Centro de Investigação em Didática e Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal

#### ABSTRACT

This chapter aims to identify certain interaction dynamics between pedagogical decisions and students' epistemic practices (EPs) that occur during science and technology lessons conducted by teachers at two different teaching levels. A content analysis was undertaken of multimodal narratives (MNs) of lessons based on two case studies of secondary and higher education teachers. MN excerpts are used to illustrate the interaction dynamics between pedagogical decisions and students' EPs for each teacher. Results show that the secondary education teacher makes more pedagogical decisions than the higher education students. The results also show that it is possible to use MNs as an instrument to develop research on teachers' pedagogical decisions are an important asset for teacher professional development as they have an impact on students' epistemic work in the physical science classroom.

#### INTRODUCTION

Decisions are present in almost everything that humans do, either in their personal or professional lives (Edwards & Fasolo, 2001). Teachers are no exception and as noted by Shavelson (1973), any act of teaching is a decision, so it is easily inferred that the teacher makes many decisions throughout the entire teaching process (Shavelson & Stern, 1981). Teachers' decisions include three distinct phases, which take place at different moments in the teaching process (e.g., Shavelson & Stern, 1981). They can occur in the lesson planning phase, during the interaction in the classroom, or after it has happened (i.e., after the lesson) (e.g., Shavelson & Stern, 1981). In this study, we focus only on the teachers' decisions that take place inside the classroom, which for simplification we call "pedagogical decisions."

#### Researching Science and Technology Teachers' Decisions Through Multimodal Narratives

Students' epistemic practices (EPs) are important in developing competences (Lopes, Branco, & Jiménez-Aleixandre, 2011), and for promoting the construction of scientific knowledge (e.g., Berland et al., 2016; Driver, Asoko, Leach, Scott, & Mortimer, 1994) in the science and technology classroom; this can effectively be used in a huge variety of contexts or situations (Kirschner, van Vilsteren, Hummel, & Wigman, 1997).

The study of pedagogical decisions and students' EPs requires data analysis related to the practice of teaching, which generates a large amount of data, making its analysis very time consuming. Grouping all the data collected in the classroom and turning them into a single analytical instrument is possible through the use of multimodal narratives ([MNs], Lopes et al., 2014), facilitating research. Similarly, one may exploit MNs as a tool preserving the holistic nature of teaching and the natural environment of the classroom (Lopes et al., 2014). The great added value of MNs, which we wish to highlight in the context of this work, is that they have the same structure, they are focused on the development of the proposed tasks in the classroom, they are narrated from the perspective of the teacher, and they enable comparison of multiple case studies (Lopes et al., 2014). Even if they are elaborated by different teachers or researchers, as they have the same structure, they are comparable and verifiable (Lopes et al., 2014), facilitating the adoption of methodological approaches such as content analysis. In this particular case, we intend to investigate the ways in which the use of MNs allows access to information regarding all the actions and decisions of each of the teachers and the students' EPs at the different teaching levels in the context of the classroom.

Teachers' pedagogical decisions are an important asset for teacher professional development since they have an impact on students' epistemic work in the physical science classroom. We studied lessons that took place in identical teaching contexts with privileged inquiry methodologies, and in which experimental work took place. The interpretative analysis (Cohen, Manion, & Morrison, 2011) of this research was undertaken through the MNs related to the lessons taught by two teachers in the area of physical sciences. The study of the interactions between teacher's pedagogical decisions and the students' EPs at different teaching levels can help to understand the mutual influence of these interactions.

Thus, the objective of this study was to identify the interaction between pedagogical decisions adopted by teachers and the students' EPs in two different teaching contexts. We present excerpts from the MNs that highlight these pedagogical decisions and the students' EPs.

#### BACKGROUND

According to Kennedy (2006), during the planning phase, the teacher imagines how the class will be conducted and how all associated actions will occur. However, no matter the extent to which a teacher plans the lesson, there are always decisions that have to be taken in the classroom to address challenging situations that arise (Aho, Haverinen, Juuso, Laukka, & Sutinen, 2010), regardless of the teaching level. However, given the specificities of each teaching level, there may be a set of decisions more characteristic of one level than others (Santos, Lopes, & Cravino 2011).

Pedagogical decisions are not always interpreted by teachers as a decision, but as their way of acting in the classroom. Sometimes the teacher takes decisions without being aware of the act, but even when taken spontaneously, such action is characterized as a result of a decision (Shavelson, 1973). This can be explained by the fact that teachers during their work act "without thinking about it" (Roth, Masciotra, & Boyd, 1999, p. 771). It may also happen because the act of deciding is inherent to every human and 16 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: www.igi-global.com/chapter/researching-science-and-technology-teachersdecisions-through-multimodal-narratives/222117?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

## Sampling Public Sentiment Using Related Tags (and User-Created Content) Networks from Social Media Platforms

Shalin Hai-Jew (2015). Enhancing Qualitative and Mixed Methods Research with Technology (pp. 331-390).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/sampling-public-sentiment-using-related-tags-and-user-created-content-networks-from-social-media-platforms/117528?camid=4v1a

#### A Literature Review on Alkali Silica Reactivity of Concrete: Consequences and Challenges

Muhammad Junaid Munir, Syed Minhaj Saleem Kazmi, Yu-Fei Wu and Indubhushan Patnaikuni (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 43-62). www.igi-global.com/article/a-literature-review-on-alkali-silica-reactivity-ofconcrete/204390?camid=4v1a

#### Applications of Nano Technology in Civil Engineering: A Review

Arslan Shamim, Sajjad Ahmad, Anwar Khitab, Waqas Anwar, Rao Arsalan Khushnood and Muhammad Usman (2018). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 48-64).* www.igi-global.com/article/applications-of-nano-technology-in-civilengineering/196604?camid=4v1a

#### Creating Meaningful Research for Graduate Students to Prevent Degree Abandonment

Amy L. Sedivy-Benton (2018). Handbook of Research on Innovative Techniques, Trends, and Analysis for Optimized Research Methods (pp. 152-171).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/creating-meaningful-research-for-graduate-students-to-preventdegree-abandonment/197734?camid=4v1a

## Chapter 15 Researching One's Own Practice: Reflections on the Teaching of Linear Algebra Using Multimodal Narratives

**Ricardo Gonçalves** Instituto Politécnico do Cávado e do Ave, Portugal

Cecília Costa

Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal & Centro de Investigação em Didática e Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal

#### ABSTRACT

This chapter aims to link the known research results on the teaching and learning of linear algebra to research on teaching practices. The same person, as a teacher and as a researcher, plans and implements a teaching sequence, constructs multimodal narratives (MNs) for some classes, and reflects on his own practice, based on the emerging categories from content analysis of the MNs. Regarding the methodology and focusing on the role of MNs in this research, it is worth highlighting the value attributed to MNs because they function as an instrument that embodies the practices of the teacher and aid him in reflecting on his own practice.

#### INTRODUCTION

This chapter's theme is in the field of higher mathematics education, in particular linear algebra teaching, and the reported research is based mainly (1) on comprehensive knowledge of the literature regarding teaching and learning of linear algebra, but also (2) on the study of teaching practices of undergraduate mathematics teachers.

In the 20th century, linear algebra became a branch of mathematics and began to be taught mainly in university and colleges. At the end of the century, the learning difficulties observed in the students, the frustration of the teachers, the technological advances, and the needs of client disciplines led to interest

in improving the undergraduate linear algebra curriculum in several countries (Carlson, Johnson, Lay, & Porter, 1993; Dorier, 1998; Dubinsky, 1997; Tucker, 1993). The work that became better known was that conducted in the United States by the *Linear Algebra Curriculum Study Group* (LACSG) (Carlson et al., 1993). Over the last three decades, the earlier lack of studies in the field (Dubinsky, 1997) has been remedied with an extensive body of research on the teaching and learning of linear algebra, first concerning student learning and later, in the search for answers to these difficulties, with the development of new teaching strategies.

Another matter is the recurrent reference to a small number of investigations for describing and analyzing the teaching practices of undergraduate mathematics teachers (Hannah, Stewart, & Thomas, 2013; Schoenfeld, Thomas, & Barton, 2016; Speer, Smith, & Horvath, 2010). Teachers constantly investigate their own practice, reflecting on their activity. However, when they reflect uncritically on their teaching practices (or without the rigor of scientific or academic investigations), it only results in "tacit" knowledge (Cochran-Smith & Lytle, 1993) or "craft" knowledge (Artigue, 2001). This is why there is a lack of research aimed at knowing, understanding, and improving "what teachers do and think daily, in class and out, as they perform their teaching work" (Speer et al., 2010, p. 99). In this regard, the research problem we considered was how to link teaching practices to the orientations of the international movement on the teaching and learning of linear algebra. In the search for contributions to an answer, we developed an investigation focusing on the teaching practices of the teacher himself (first author).

In our opinion, the Multimodal Narrative (MN) approach is the best way of making known the work done by the teacher (and by the students). The MN is a relatively recent instrument, but has already been validated in the scientific community (Lopes et al., 2010, 2014). MNs have been used mostly to investigate physical science teaching practices, some in higher education (e.g., Lopes, Cravino, Branco, Saraiva, & Silva, 2008; Pinto et al., 2014; Santos, Lopes, & Cravino, 2011). Our research is the first to use MNs in mathematics in higher education.

Chapter 1 of this book presents MNs in detail, and in the "MN: Value, Construction, and Validation" subsection we will show how we used them in our investigation, now in the context of linear algebra. With specific reference to possible ways of teaching the concept of linear combination, and considering the suggestions in the literature ("Theoretical Background"), we will seek in the "Results" and "Conclusion" sections to uncover the emerging opportunities and difficulties faced by a linear algebra teacher. This is based on the teacher's own reflection on his practice and the content analysis of the MNs constructed for some classes.

#### THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

This research builds on extensive knowledge of the research results on the teaching and learning of linear algebra published over the last three decades.

Concerning learning difficulties related to linear algebra in general, Dorier and Sierpinska (2001) organized them, in a review of literature, according to conceptual difficulties (related to the nature of linear algebra) and cognitive difficulties (related to the kind of thinking required for the understanding of linear algebra). On specific learning difficulties, and pointing to the particular concept of linear combination students look at linear algebra as a catalogue of abstract concepts, commonly defined in generic terms (Harel, 1997), and "submerged under an avalanche of new words, new symbols, new definitions, and new theorems" (Dorier, Robert, Robinet, & Rogalski, 2000, p. 95). For these researchers, the

17 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage:

www.igi-global.com/chapter/researching-ones-own-

practice/222118?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

## **Related Content**

## Exploiting Enriched Knowledge of Web Network Structures: Chaining Maltego Tungsten, NCapture and NVivo, and NodeXL

Shalin Hai-Jew (2015). Enhancing Qualitative and Mixed Methods Research with Technology (pp. 255-286).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/exploiting-enriched-knowledge-of-web-networkstructures/117524?camid=4v1a

#### Research and Web 2.0: Technology, Innovation, and Actor Constellations

Diego Ponte and Stefan Klein (2019). Scholarly Ethics and Publishing: Breakthroughs in Research and Practice (pp. 855-869).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/research-and-web-20/222346?camid=4v1a

# Boosting Algorithm and Meta-Heuristic Based on Genetic Algorithms for Textual Plagiarism Detection

Hadj Ahmed Bouarara, Reda Mohamed Hamou, Amine Rahmani and Abdelmalek Amine (2019). *Scholarly Ethics and Publishing: Breakthroughs in Research and Practice (pp. 419-441).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/boosting-algorithm-and-meta-heuristic-based-on-genetic-algorithmsfor-textual-plagiarism-detection/222319?camid=4v1a

### Digital Forensic Investigation of Social Media, Acquisition and Analysis of Digital Evidence

Reza Montasari, Richard Hill, Victoria Carpenter and Farshad Montaseri (2019). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 52-60).* 

www.igi-global.com/article/digital-forensic-investigation-of-social-media-acquisition-and-analysisof-digital-evidence/219324?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 16 Researching Language and Semiotic Registers in Chemistry Lessons Using Multimodal Narratives

**Carolina José Maria** Universidade Metodista de Piracicaba, Brazil

#### ABSTRACT

The main objective of this chapter is to extend the discussion of language and the use of semiotic registers in chemistry lessons. Audio and video recordings, students' notebooks, photographs of content, and activities recorded on the blackboard in chemistry lessons for high school students taught in a public school in the interior of the State of São Paulo enabled the construction of multimodal narratives (MNs). The qualitative analysis of the MNs allowed the identification and understanding of the semiotic registers present in eight lessons conducted by a chemistry teacher. The study revealed several semiotic registers present in the lessons, but there is little exploration of the processes of conversion between semiotic registers by the teacher and therefore by the students. The use of different semiotic registers without the necessary understanding of them can result in difficulties in the teaching and learning processes of chemical concepts.

#### INTRODUCTION

Since the earliest times, scholars have sought explanations for natural phenomena that are part of everyday life. However, explaining something that is not directly perceptible through the senses is an extremely complex task. In the case of atoms and molecules, which have a real structure that is not perceptible by the senses, this a great challenge for chemistry, and consequently the teaching of this science. One of the major issues is how to enable students to perceive the relationship between microscopic and macroscopic levels, that is, how to ensure they understand microscopically the phenomena of their daily lives.

DOI: 10.4018/978-1-5225-8570-1.ch016

#### Researching Language and Semiotic Registers in Chemistry Lessons Using Multimodal Narratives

One of the main objectives of the teaching of chemistry is that the student appropriates the diversity of representations that belong to this area, that is, it is necessary that the student appropriates the specific language of this field of knowledge characterized by a diversity of semiotic registers. The relevance of the study of the semiotic registers is due to the fact that the development of the sciences is linked to semiotic systems that are increasingly specific and independent of the natural language. To overcome this challenge, the discussion of the appropriation of the specific language of chemistry is fundamental. According to Roque and Silva (2008), the chemist understands the world through models, graphs, figures, and equations, namely idealized and simplified representations of the real world (semiotic registers). It is thus understood that for students to understand natural phenomena, they must learn the specific language of chemistry. Understanding this language can facilitate the study of this science, since for the teaching and learning of chemical concepts it not necessary to have a concrete macroscopic model; indeed, through symbols, students can imagine the substances and their behavior.

Comprehension of chemistry is subject to the understanding and meaning of symbolic representations. Thus, it becomes necessary to study semiotics - the study of any and all language. According to Peirce (2005), the processes of signification include written symbols, gestures, and written or spoken words, and these can occur whenever something has meaning for an individual. Lemke (1998, p. 6) states that "the natural language of science is a synergistic integration of words, diagrams, pictures, graphs, maps, equations, tables, charts and other forms of visual and mathematical expressions." Therefore, it is understandable that chemistry lessons must be permeated by diverse semiotic representation registers that will help the student to develop the ability to "read" the world.

Thus, in a general way, this study aims to understand how the use of semiotic registers in chemistry lessons are employed considering one case study, without aiming at generalizations, in order to broaden the discussion of the language and the reflection on how the use of these registers can contribute to understanding of the chemical concepts.

#### BACKGROUND

Based on semiotic science, recent research on science education, mainly with a cognitive orientation (Zompero & Laburú, 2010), has provided important advances in understanding aspects related to representations, including mental, internal, and external (semiotics), involving the learning of concepts (Duval, 2003). For this author, the mental representations comprise a set of images and conceptions that an individual can have concerning an object; the internal aspects are those characterized by the automatic execution of information, and the external, or semiotics, are productions constituted by the use of signs belonging to a system of representation, used as a means of externalizing the mental representations for communication purposes.

According to Duval (1993) semiotic registers can be understood as any form of enabling the symbolic representation of the construction of cognitive thinking. In the case of sciences, we can highlight mathematical formulae, Cartesian graphs, and algebraic writing, among other semiotic representations present in teaching. Understanding of scientific concepts requires the engagement of several systems of representations called registers, such as verbal language, and graphical and numerical representations, etc. Each register can contribute in a specific way to a wider understanding of the context and therefore to the organization of the student's mental representations. This means that, when learning chemistry, the student must also learn the specific language.

13 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: www.igi-global.com/chapter/researching-language-and-semiotic-registers-inchemistry-lessons-using-multimodal-narratives/222119?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

#### **Related Content**

Sustainability: An Overview of the Triple Bottom Line and Sustainability Implementation Maria Salome Correia (2019). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 29-38). www.igi-global.com/article/sustainability/219322?camid=4v1a

Self-Discovery: Data Collection From Self and Others for Individual and Societal Implications (2019). Autoethnography and Heuristic Inquiry for Doctoral-Level Researchers: Emerging Research and Opportunities (pp. 84-105).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/self-discovery/227321?camid=4v1a

# Assessment of Challenges of Teaching and Learning Computer Programming in Tanzanian Higher Education: The Case of Sokoine University of Agriculture

Baraka M. Kagombe, Michael P. J. Mahenge, Sotco Claudius Komba, Safari Timothy Mafu and Camilius Aloyce Sanga (2019). *Technology-Supported Teaching and Research Methods for Educators (pp. 33-50).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/assessment-of-challenges-of-teaching-and-learning-computerprogramming-in-tanzanian-higher-education/213057?camid=4v1a

#### Applications of Nano Technology in Civil Engineering: A Review

Arslan Shamim, Sajjad Ahmad, Anwar Khitab, Waqas Anwar, Rao Arsalan Khushnood and Muhammad Usman (2018). *International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 48-64).* www.igi-global.com/article/applications-of-nano-technology-in-civilengineering/196604?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 17 Accessing Science Museum Educators' Discourse Through Multimodal Narratives

**Susana Afonso** University of Exeter, UK

Ana Sofia Afonso Universidade do Minho, Portugal

#### ABSTRACT

Museum educators play an important role in science communication, as they connect elements of an exhibit with visitors through emotion-driven experiences that are meaningful to them. Language is their main modus operandi in face-to-face interactions, but little is known of how they use it to communicate science, in part because little attention has been given to their practices and professional development. Nowadays, museums are changing, and science communication has become more demanding as these institutions exhibit hot themes of science. In this context, it is important that museum educators become aware of how they communicate science with an intended audience and reflect on how their practice can be improved. In this chapter, the authors focus on the way multimodal narratives can be used as a tool to access museum educators' discourse as well as how to promote museum educators' reflection about their practice and their professional development.

#### INTRODUCTION

Science museums, initially created to preserve and study collections of objects of scientific interest, have expanded their mission to include an educational purpose that can contribute to supporting the process of adults' lifelong learning. This has led to the reinvention of the museum space so that exhibitions can be framed around hot scientific themes that are pressing society (e.g. global warming, sustainable development), or around processes of science (e.g. modeling or contemporary scientific research), that attend to the visitors' needs, interests and motivations (e.g. Dillon et al., 2016), in contrast with tradi-

DOI: 10.4018/978-1-5225-8570-1.ch017

tional exhibitions that provide friendly interpretations of the message and do not encourage visitors to go beyond what they already know. Exhibitions on hot themes cover complex scientific ideas, requiring visitors to think critically about science (Rennie, 2014). As a result, science museums face the challenge of how to represent science in a version that encourages engagement and that is meaningful to an intended audience (Tlili, Cribb, & Gewirtz, 2006). One way to move forward is to present key ideas in a clear and simple story (Rennie, 2013), told mainly through objects and interactive exhibits explicitly linked together. However, because resources do not talk for themselves, front-line museum educators (museum educators, henceforth) may aid visitors to go beyond what they already know, and to create emotional links with what is being presented (Rennie, 2014). Hence, they can impact on visitors' learning experiences in multiple ways, including inspiration and creativity, attitudes and values, aesthetic appreciation, knowledge and understanding in science, among others, as has been accounted in a diversity of frameworks (see for example the six strands of science learning in Bell, Lewenstein, Shouse, and Feder (2009), or the Generic Learning Outcomes in Hooper-Greenhill (2007)).

Communicating science in museums is a challenging and complex task for museum educators, who are asked to support visitors' learning in diverse types of activities, ranging from guided visits to unstructured interactions in the exhibition area. They act between unseen or hidden science of the curatorial department and the visitors (Anderson, Cosson, & McIntoshosh, 2015). What they say is, to some extent, shaped by the institutions' missions and rules (Clark, 1996), but their discourse is not prescriptive. Indeed, they need to adjust the content of the message and the form of the language used to engage in successful science dialogues with an intended audience, i.e. dialogues where any participant can ask questions, give, and evaluate an answer (Gilbert, 2013). The emergent dialogues are unplanned and unfold as a museum educator and an audience coordinate their individual actions to negotiate meaning (i.e. a joint activity), which is influenced by visitors' feelings, beliefs, desires, and the role they assume in the conversation (Clark, 1996). There are some good practices that museum educators need to have in mind to enhance the coordination between what they mean and what their addressees understand them to mean (e.g. Laszlo, 2006; Stocklmayer & Rennie, 2017). In particular, museum educators need to take time to know the audience (StockImayer & Rennie, 2017); to carefully select the content (e.g. key ideas to convey and their level of precision, complexity, and abstraction (Yeo & Gilbert, 2014)); and to adjust the form of language, both at a macrolevel (e.g. the structure of the discourse itself) and at a microlevel (e.g. lexicon, use of analogies), to an intended audience. As a result, dialogues on hot science themes may have different levels of complexity and formality depending on the audience: from those that focus on an awareness of scientific issues, to those in which participants reflect on the impact of science on their lives. However, little is known on how museum educators use language to communicate science in museums, in part because little attention has been given to their professional development (Patrick, 2017). The majority of known studies focus on museum educator-student interactions during guided school visits. While some studies suggest that museum educators tend to transfer their knowledge to students, to use scientific terminology without clarification, and to neglect students' needs (Cox-Peterson, Marsh, Kisiel, & Melber, 2003; Tal & Morag, 2007), other studies show that museum educators are receptive to students' needs, employ and adjust the depth and content of the message by using a diversity of strategies (Tran, 2007). Additionally, Pattison and Dierking (2012, 2013), in studies with families in a science museum, pointed out that museum educators employed several strategies (e.g. checking in, guiding, modeling, encouraging) to facilitate family learning. These studies provide few insights on how museum educators use language in science communication, as in most of them data were collected by observing and/or interviewing museum educators about their pedagogical approaches. Additionally, 14 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: <u>www.igi-global.com/chapter/accessing-science-museum-educators-</u> discourse-through-multimodal-narratives/222121?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

### **Related Content**

# Interdisciplinary Solutions for Tertiary Education Institutions and a Stagnating Labor Market in Jordan: A Case Study at a Public University

Mohammed S. Shunnaq and Susanne Ramadan Shunnaq (2018). *Promoting Interdisciplinarity in Knowledge Generation and Problem Solving (pp. 38-54).* 

www.igi-global.com/chapter/interdisciplinary-solutions-for-tertiary-education-institutions-and-astagnating-labor-market-in-jordan/190508?camid=4v1a

#### Ethical Issues in Qualitative Data Collection and Management

Cees Th Smit Sibinga (2019). Scholarly Ethics and Publishing: Breakthroughs in Research and Practice (pp. 697-713).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/ethical-issues-in-qualitative-data-collection-andmanagement/222336?camid=4v1a

#### Mixing Methodologies: A Sliding Continuum or an Iterative Cycle?

Jo Denton (2019). *Educational Research in the Age of Anthropocene (pp. 84-109).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/mixing-methodologies/212472?camid=4v1a

# Investigating Human Consciousness Through Florian Znaniecki's Humanistic Sociology and Memoir Method

Vegneskumar Maniam (2019). *Educational Research in the Age of Anthropocene (pp. 168-186).* www.igi-global.com/chapter/investigating-human-consciousness-through-florian-znanieckishumanistic-sociology-and-memoir-method/212475?camid=4v1a

# Chapter 18 Multimodal Narratives in Nursing Education: Exploring Their Potentialities

#### Marília Rua

Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal & Centro de Investigação em Didática e Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal

Rita M. F. Leal

Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal & Unidade de Cuidados na Comunidade Aveiro, Portugal

Nilza Costa

Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal & Centro de Investigação em Didática e Tecnologia na Formação de Formadores, Portugal

#### ABSTRACT

Nursing education is driven by emerging challenges of scientific, technological, and professional advances that require the use of strategies that promote students' development of critical thinking for decision making in different contexts. It also requires that teachers constantly reflect on their pedagogical practices and (re)think them using strategies that allow their enhancement. The use of multimodal narratives (MNs) can be an important tool for teachers' professional development, namely to improve their classroom practices. Given the novelty of the use of MNs in nursing education, this chapter presents an analysis concerning the experience of making a MN and how it has been reflected in the authors' pedagogical practices. With this experience, potentialities of continuing to use MNs in nurse education are explored.

#### INTRODUCTION

The use of multimodal narratives (MNs) as an instrument to improve teachers' practices has been intensively researched, since 2008, by a Portuguese team under the coordination of J. B. Lopes (Lopes et al., 2012, 2014). Since 2017, there has been a web page available (http://multimodal.narratives.utad.pt) with information for researchers and teachers about all the work that has been developed so far by the

DOI: 10.4018/978-1-5225-8570-1.ch018

team. From this work, there is strong evidence that MNs play an important role in teachers' professional development. However, this research has been mainly conducted in the field of science education in elementary and secondary schools, although its scope has been expanded, more recently, to other areas, like mathematics, information & communication technologies and to higher education (HE). The idea of studying the potentialities of the use of MNs in nursing education in HE was the main reason for conducting the analysis to be described in this chapter.

The chapter starts with an overview on the complexity of nursing education in HE, namely at a postgraduate level, due to the challenges faced by the nursing profession nowadays. This section also explores the professional requirements that nursing educators should have, particularly which professional competences are concerned, and the instruments that have been used to develop them. Then, and given the characteristics of a MN, a comparative analysis is made between the potentialities of the use of narratives and MNs which leads to the relevance of the use of MNs in nursing education. Furthermore, a description and analysis of the use of a MN in nursing education is conducted, specifically in a post-graduate class, and the implications for the professional development of the teacher are explored. The last section includes the main conclusions of this analysis concerning its potentialities, the limitations of this study, and recommendations for future work.

#### BACKGROUND

Nursing education integrated into higher education (HE), as it is in Portugal, has undergone deep changes, not only to follow the scientific-technological evolution of the area, but also the paradigm's changes in nursing care and the pedagogical-didactics approaches recommended for HE. Today it is expected that a nurse, in the context of clinical practice, is a professional who supports his/her practices with scientific evidence for a contextualized decision-making in order to care for the person, family, groups and community throughout the life cycle, and to follow them up in their transitions and in the management of their health projects (Costa, 2011; International Family Nursing Association/IFNA, 2017; Rua, 2011).

Regarding the health-care contexts, where nursing practices most often occur, and where decisionmaking based on a set of specific competencies can be observed, these are highly demanding and unpredictable, not only from the point of view of the health/ illness conditions of the users, but also from their involvement in their health projects. This requires nurses' competencies in different dimensions, which are developed from initial education, but which must be extended throughout life, particularly when leading to a specialist level in a specific nursing area (IFNA, 2015; Popil, 2011). Given these assumptions, the training of these professionals, at the specialization level (always in the context of HE), requires a constant movement to improve the pedagogical practices of their teachers based on strategies that promote the development of new and deeper competences, such as critical thinking, considering that they are postgraduate students and, most of them, have been working for some years.

Taking on board the literature about teaching practices in the context of nursing education at the second cycle (postgraduation), where this study took place, it is evident that there is a constant need to improve them through more active strategies and critical-thinking activities, among other competencies.

For years in HE, students have been educated through what is identified today as traditional lectures (expository teaching). Active-learning strategies have been progressively widespread and researched, and they "...contrasted to the traditional lecture where students passively receive information from the instructor" (Prince, 2004, p. 223). A definition of active learning may be "...any instructional method

18 more pages are available in the full version of this document, which may be purchased using the "Add to Cart" button on the product's webpage: <u>www.igi-global.com/chapter/multimodal-narratives-in-nursing-</u> education/222122?camid=4v1

This title is available in Advances in Educational Technologies and Instructional Design, InfoSci-Books, InfoSci-Education, InfoSci-Library and Information Science, Library Science, Information Studies, and Education. Recommend this product to your librarian:

www.igi-global.com/e-resources/library-recommendation/?id=84

### **Related Content**

#### An Overview of Disaster and Emergency Management Systems Models

Dilshad Sarwar (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 24-37). www.igi-global.com/article/an-overview-of-disaster-and-emergency-management-systemsmodels/196602?camid=4v1a

#### Lateral Load Performance Analysis of Dhajji Dewari Using Different Infills

Hafiz Muhammad Rashid, Shaukat Ali Khan, Rao Arsalan Khushnood and Junaid Ahmad (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 1-12). www.igi-global.com/article/lateral-load-performance-analysis-of-dhajji-dewari-using-differentinfills/204387?camid=4v1a

#### Perspectives of Use of Petri Nets in Collaborative Research

Vyacheslav Rogalchuk and Konstantin Solomin (2015). Collaborative Knowledge in Scientific Research Networks (pp. 371-385).

www.igi-global.com/chapter/perspectives-of-use-of-petri-nets-in-collaborativeresearch/119833?camid=4v1a

#### An Overview of Disaster and Emergency Management Systems Models

Dilshad Sarwar (2018). International Journal of Strategic Engineering (pp. 24-37). www.igi-global.com/article/an-overview-of-disaster-and-emergency-management-systemsmodels/196602?camid=4v1a

# Conclusion

This book, *Multimodal Narratives in Research and Teaching Practices*, focuses on Science and Technology Education, a relevant issue in the present society. It contributes to the field presenting an innovative way to capture the reality of what happens in the classroom and to make it public: the tool Multimodal Narratives (MN). This tool is explained from its origin, to its construction and illustration of how it can be used from several perspectives and purposes. The potential readers are primarily teachers, teacher trainers/students and researchers. This book shows how this tool can contribute to teachers' professional development and to educational research. It also approaches other contexts of usage (nursery and museums) as examples of other applications.

In brief, an MN is a descriptive and multimodal account that aggregates several types of data of professional practices in a real work context, which can be public and shareable. MN is characterized by their self-containment, reliability and representing public descriptions of professional practices in the real work context. MN tool is distinguished from others with similar purposes by: (a) having a verifiable chronological line, (b) being based on collected data of various types and the possibility to validate its accuracy, (c) incorporating descriptively the teachers' perspective, necessarily subjective, (d) being enriched by multimodal elements; (e) have a clear structure and similar characteristics; (f) present itself in a public register, easily consulted and open to different communities. These unique characteristics of MN allow them to be used by teachers, researchers and other professionals with different interests, visions and purposes taking advantage of the collection of validated MNs, in its present state, accessible on http://multimodal.narratives.utad.pt/ or even extend the collection.

All these characteristics are fully explained and described in the first chapter, which also shows the importance of the teaching practices become public and shareable and presents a tool –the MN– to do that. This chapter inscribes the work with MNs in a general trend of an Open Science perspective, gives the book a direction towards a strong coherence, and a fully assumed citizenship. In particular, explains in detail how MNs can be developed and validated and articulates the rationale of MN, its characteristics, the development process, its use in teacher training, professional development and research.

The book presents multifaceted contributions from several authors who over time have joined the team of researchers and teachers who developed the MN tool. Their seek to provide answers to questions that gradually emerged from the tool development process itself allowed to detail different views and lines of research and its acceptance in the professional and academic communities. Each perspective of the MN usage allowed the adjustment of this book for different target reading audiences closely aligned with each part of the book. By showing evidences of the MN's relevance and ways of usage through reports of cases, a useful mixture of theory and practice is made. In all chapters the respective authors had in mind the development of the teaching quality of Science & Technology and the students' learning quality.

#### Conclusion

The research developed and the collaborative work showed in this book involved teachers and researchers from Portugal, Brazil and Angola (with 11 Higher Education Institutions, 9 Basic and Secondary Schools directly involved). This allowed to verify that MNs are a rich and multifaceted tool that can:

- 1. Provide an integrative vision of a S&T teacher in action. In Section 2, chapters 2 to 6, showed how Teaching Practices in S&T can be seen through the MN, namely while exploiting specific issues of teacher mediation in different practices.
- 2. Be used by teachers in the context of their professional development or even in initial training. In Section 3, chapters 7 to 11, showed how the usage of MNs can aid improve the professional development of S&T teachers, articulating with research of teaching practices.
- 3. Be object of research. Since their foci are not in the "teaching subjects" but in the "teaching practices", MN from different contexts can be used to compare different practices and serve wider research purposes related to the improvement of S&T teaching or other professional practices. In Section 4, chapters 12 to 16, illustrates some of these possibilities.

In addition to the S&T teaching professionals and researchers' interest, NMs may also have a potential interest in professional development in other professional sectors that are based on interaction with people such as doctors, nurses, caregivers, etc. In Section 5, chapters 17 and 18 explored some possibilities in this direction, in particular, science communication in museums and nursing education.

The most values of this book are presenting, explaining, using and exploring the possibilities of use (researching, teaching and professional development) of a tool - MN - that may:

- 1. Enhance the possibilities of researching S&T teaching practices by other teams, using the currently MN collection available in a portal articulated with the book. It is possible to do large-scale research studies (using the MN diversity of the collection available) or in depth (using few MNs). This possibility is based on the structure and characteristics common to different NMs secured by a protocol for their elaboration. In addition, MN can be explored using different theoretical approaches and analysis techniques. Finally, the same MN can be used for different research purposes.
- 2. Expand the MN collection with other MNs from different professionals and contexts. Given their public character, MNs can be taken as a reference to improve the teaching practices of S&T. The MN reports and shows what happened, as it happened. There are unsuccessful situations and others with different degrees of success. The lessons to be taken from one or more MNs will be personal, perhaps even depending on the experience of each one. The same can no longer be said of research studies due to their aim of contributing to a better and systematic understanding of specific aspects of teacher mediation.
- 3. Disseminate the MNs' potential to larger audiences which can include not only academics, but also teachers and other professionals who daily contact with other people in their practice. MNs allow access to the point of view of the teacher. Since MNs reconcile objective data and subjective descriptions, and accepting them both, as fundamental, it is possible to focus on main points for professional practice or professional development. It is well known how important the implicit and subjective aspects are for the repertory of professional skills.

In light of the above, we are convinced that this book, while presenting the MNs and the different scenarios in which it can be used, can constitute the basis for many future and fruitful research lines as well as the empirical basis support for teachers in the development of their educational practices!

J. Bernardino Lopes Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

Maria Clara Viegas Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

José Alexandre Pinto Politécnico do Porto, Portugal

# About the Contributors

**J. Bernardino Lopes** holds a PhD and Aggregation in Physics Education. Associate Professor of UTAD (Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro). Researcher of Research Centre CIDTFF - Research Centre "Didactics and Technology in Education of Trainers and coordinator of a research lab of this centre. Former President of Scientific Council, Pedagogical Council and Head of Department at UTAD. Currently is Director of doctoral program: "Science and Technology Education Research" at UTAD. Invited Editor of scientific journals and referee in JCR journals. Consultant in a professional development center. Author/editor of books (international edition) and papers in international scientific journals with peer review. Present research interests include Sciences and Technological Education Research, in particular: i) Curriculum design and evaluation of teaching; ii) Teacher mediation of student learning; iii) Teaching practices (questions, tasks, inquiry, epistemic practices, decisions, engagement, assessment, CTS contexts, interactions, practical work); iv) Conceptual learning; v) Tools for data collection in classroom; vi) computer simulation; vii) tools (beneficial and epistemic) to enhance C&T learning viii) Teacher education and Teacher professional development; ix) Philosophy of Science.

**Maria Clara Viegas** holds a PhD in Science and Technology and a MSc in Mechanical Engineering. Currently she is an Adjunct Professor in Polytechnic of Porto – School of Engineering (ISEP), Porto, Portugal. Researcher in CIETI Research Centre - Centre for Innovation in Engineering and Industrial Technology. Former member of the Pedagogical Council and Vice-Head of Physics Department at ISEP. Participant in several national and international research projects. Invited chair in International Conferences and referee in JCR journals. Author of several papers in international scientific journals, book chapters and international conferences with peer review. Her present research interests are: Engineering Education; Physics Didactics; Science and Technological Education Research, in particular Teacher mediation of student learning and Teaching practices Teacher professional development; Remote Labs Learning Outcomes.

**José Alexandre Pinto** holds a PhD in Didactics of Science and technology and a MSc in Science Teaching Supervision. Currently he is an Adjunct Professor in Polytechnic of Porto – School of Education, Porto, Portugal. He is currently the Vice-President of the School of Education. Previously, he was director of the department of Mathematics, Science and Technology (between 2016-2018). He is also a researcher at the Research Centre "Didactics and Technology in Education of Trainers" (CIDTFF) at the University of Aveiro. His research interests are in the areas of Teacher Education, Science Teaching Supervision and STEM Education (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics Education). He has participated in several funded research projects and is author or coauthor of books, book chapters, peer-reviewed papers and conference communications.

\*\*\*

Ana Sofia Afonso is Assistant Professor in Science Education at the University of Minho, Portugal, and a researcher at the Research Centre on Education, Institute of Education, University of Minho. She holds a first degree in Physics (University of Porto) and a Master degree in Physics Education (University of Minho). She completed her PhD in 2005 at the University of Reading, UK. Her dissertation focused on learning in science museums. Since then, her research has explored learning in other informal environments, particularly with popular science books. She is a member of the editorial board of "Revista Portuguesa de Educação".

**Susana Afonso** is Senior Lecturer in Portuguese at the University of Exeter. She has completed her PhD in 2008 at the University of Manchester. Her dissertation is an empirical study of Impersonal constructions in European Portuguese from a Cognitive Linguistics perspective. Since then, her research interests widened to encompass multilingualism and language contact from a Cognitive Sociolinguistics perspective, particularly with reference to non-standard varieties of Portuguese around the world. More recently, Susana is involved in collaborative work on communication of Science in informal contexts, researching the discourse of museum guides and its effectiveness in communicating scientific phenomena.

**Carla Aguiar dos Santos** is a student of the PhD course in Physical Sciences - didactics, at the Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro. Carla has a degree in "Teaching of Physics and Chemistry" from the Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro. Research interests are in the area of science education, in particular in the study of the pedagogical decisions that teachers adopt in the classroom, using multimodal narratives as a research tool.

António Barbot was born on November 4, 1979 in Porto, Portugal. He is graduated in Biological Engineering and has a postgraduate degree in Environmental Technologies from University of Minho, Braga, Portugal. He holds a PhD in Physical Sciences Education from University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro, Vila Real, Portugal, where he dealt with topics related to the relationships between Water and Energy in Education. He is currently an Assistant Teacher at the School of Education of the Polytechnic Institute of Porto in the department of Mathematics, Science and Technology. He is a member of the Research Centre "Didactics and Technology in Education of Trainers" (CIDTFF), Aveiro, Portugal. His main research interests are in the areas of Physical Science Education in Initial Teachers Training courses, and in the use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) in the classroom.

Maria Cecília Rosas Pereira Peixoto da Costa was born in Porto, Portugal, in 1966. She holds a BSc in Mathematics by University of Porto, a MSc in Educational Sciences by University of Coimbra, a PhD in Mathematics and Agregation in Science and Technology Education Research, both by the University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro (UTAD). She teaches in the Department of Mathematics of UTAD since 1994, mainly linear algebra and didactics of mathematics. She is member of CIDTFF - Research Center "Didactics and Technology in Education of Trainers". Her interests as a researcher are Mathematics Education, Didactics of Linear Algebra and Geometry, Ethnomathematics, History of Mathematics and its Teaching, and Teaching practices. She has several national and international publications.

**Nilza Costa** is a full professor in Education in the Department of Education and Psychology (DEP), University of Aveiro (UA)/Portugal, being responsible in DEP for the area of Didactics and Educational Technology. She is a founding member of the Research Centre "Didactics and Technology in Teacher Education" (CIDTFF), allocated in DEP/UA, and external financed by the Portuguese Science and Technology Foundation (FCT), since its creation in 1994. She was the coordinator of CIDTFF, between 2012-2016, leading 80 researchers from UA and other Higher Education Institutions. She was, during five years, the Coordinator of the Integrated Centre of Techer Education in UA. Her main research interests are: teacher education and staff development from secondary to higher education; science/physics education; and evaluation and assessment in education. In the last thirty years she has been responsible for several research projects (at a national and international level), an author and/or co-author of several publications and a supervisor of more than 20 PhD students (mainly from Portugal, but also from Brazil and Africa). She has been invited to give key lectures in many Universities in Europe, Africa and Brazil.

**José Paulo Cravino** (http://orcid.org/0000-0002-5376-6128) has an academic background in Physics and holds a PhD in Physics/Physics Education Research. He is Assistant Professor of Physics at the Physics Department of the School of Science and Technology of the Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro. He is currently the director of the department (2017-2020). Previously, he was Vice-President of the School of Science and Technology (between 2009 and 2013). He is also a researcher at the Research Centre "Didactics and Technology in Education of Trainers" (CIDTFF) at the University of Aveiro. His research interests are in the areas of Physics Education, STEM Education (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics Education), Educational Technology and Teacher Education. He has participated in several competitively funded research projects and is author or coauthor of several books, book chapters, peer-reviewed papers and conference communications.

Eliane de Souza Cruz graduated with a degree in Physics Education from the University of São Paulo in São Paulo, Brazil. She has a postgraduate degree in Science Education from the University of Aveiro in Aveiro, Portugal. She holds a PhD in Education, Didactics and Teacher Training Research. She is currently an Adjunt Professor at the Federal University of São Paulo and a researcher at CEFE (Centre of Educators Training of Nonhigher Education) in Diadema, Brazil. Her main research interest is "Articulation between Research and Practices in Nonhigher and Higher Education". Member of the Education Regional Forum of the ABC that discusses Brazil's educational policies. She is coordinator of the Program ARTICUL@ÇÕES that includes 4 projects (articul@ events, articul@ training, articul@ schools and articul@ popular courses).

**Gonçalo Cruz** is a PhD student in Didactics of Science and Technology and a research fellow at the University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro (UTAD), in Portugal. In 2011, Gonçalo achieved his Master degree in Educational Sciences at the University of Coimbra. With several publications in journals, conferences and book chapters, his main research interests are Distance Learning, Social Learning, Technology Enhanced Learning, Cooperative Learning, Critical Thinking, and Teacher Training.

Ana Edite Cunha is a professor of Physics and Chemistry at the Secondary School. She has a master degree in Physics of University of Minho in 2002 and a PhD degree in Sciences and Technology Didactics at the University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro in 2015. Her research interests are

#### About the Contributors

professional development, teacher mediation and students engagement in science education. She has several publications of papers in national and international journals and in books. In her professional life besides teaching subjects of physics and chemistry, she holds several teaching positions as Class Director, Cycle Coordinator and member of the School's Pedagogical Council.

**Ricardo Jorge Castro Gonçalves** was born in Fafe, Portugal, in 1975. He holds a BSc in Mathematics by University of Aveiro, a MSc in Mathematics Education by Faculty of Science of University of Porto, and a PhD in Science and Technology Education Research by University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro. He teaches in Polytechnic Institute of Cávado and Ave, mainly linear algebra, since 2009. His research interests include mathematics education, in particular on teaching and learning of linear algebra, having some publications in this area. He is also author of a linear algebra textbook. When he is not teaching, Ricardo Gonçalves enjoys hiking and travel.

**Rita Maria Ferreira Leal** has a Master's Degree in Family Health Nursing, a Master's Degree in Business Administration and Accounting, is Coordinator, Registered Nurse-Midwife and Family Nurse Practitioner at a Primary Health Care Unit in Aveiro, Portugal (Unidade de Cuidados na Comunidade Aveiro) and has been a Part-time Visiting Professor at the School of Health, University of Aveiro, Portugal (since 2016). Areas of scientific interest: Family health, Midwifery, Nursing and Education.

**Carolina José Maria** has a Bachelor's degree in Sciences - Qualification in Chemistry. She is a Master in Education for Science and has a PhD in Education. She began her teaching career in Basic Education as a teacher of Chemistry and Sciences. She is currently a teacher and coordinator of the Chemistry-Licentiate Course at the Methodist University of Piracicaba. She also works as an education researcher, working especially with semiotic registers in Science/Chemistry lessons, besides guiding Scientific Initiation projects in this line. She has experience in the area of Education in Chemistry Teaching, mainly working in the subjects of teacher's mediation in the teaching of Chemistry, didactic resources for the teaching of Chemistry, semiotic registers and teacher's training.

**Cristina Marques** has a degree in Chemistry from the University of Coimbra and she has a PhD in Didactics of Chemistry from the University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro since 2011. She is an assistant professor in the Department of Chemistry of this university since 1993. Her research interests are related with the area of physical sciences and with curricular development, problem solving, practical work, work by project, design of educational tools, teacher mediation and teacher training.

**Maria Paula Montenegro Vieira Cardoso** was born in Espinho, Portugal, in 1965. She holds a BSc in Mathematics and Science by Instituto Piaget, a MSc in Mathematics and Science by University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro (UTAD) and she is a PhD student in Science and Technology Education Research in University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro (UTAD). She is a science and mathematics teacher in the 2nd cycle of basic education. Her research interest lies on the specifics of each one of verbal, symbolic and visual representation systems, used together, providing experiences with multiples representations. She considers that systems of visual representation can have a significant impact in teaching and learning of Mathematics, in middle school, reason why she developed investigation work in this area, based on her teaching experience and together with other investigators. She has several national and international publications on this topic.

Leonel Morgado is Assistant Professor with Habilitation, at Universidade Aberta (Portuguese Open University), a public university focusing on e-learning, where he lectures on programming and the use of virtual worlds, and develops his research as a senior researcher at INESC TEC, a research laboratory rated as Excellent by the national research assessment authorities. His main research interest is the use and development of virtual worlds and immersive technologies as tools for learning and business, which he pursues since 2000, focusing on multi-user platforms since 2006. He authored over 100 papers, in journals, conferences, and as book chapters, most related to this field of interest. Leonel is a board member of the Immersive Learning Research Network. He is also the President of the Board of the Portuguese Association of Videogame Sciences.

**Domingos Kimpolo Nzau** is an Angolan and career professor. He graduated in Physics from the Higher Institute of Educational Sciences (ISCED) in Lubango - Angola in 1985 and a PhD in Physics Didactics from the University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro-Portugal in 2010. He was a Teacher of Primary School from 1970 to 1977 in Cabinda - Angola, teacher of Mathematics and Natural Sciences in Secondary Schools in Cabinda and Lubango from 1979 to 1985; a university professor from 1985 until the present time. Actually, he is Associate Professor and General Director of the Higher Institute of Educational Sciences (ISCED) of Uíge - Angola as well as a researcher of the Department of Exact Sciences of the same Institution. His research concern is focused on students' learning in exact, natural, and technological sciences, notably in physics teaching practices, teachers' training, and students' learning assessment.

**Daniela Pedrosa** is a Post-Doc Researcher at the University of Trás-os-Montes and Alto Douro (UTAD), and Research Centre on Didactics and Technology in the Education of Trainers (CIDTFF), in Portugal. She holds a PhD in Science and Technology Didactics at UTAD, specializing in Didactics of Informatics. Her doctoral research project funded by a PhD grant awarded by the Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT), whose theme was "Self-Regulation and Co-Regulation Learning in Higher Education: Strategies Adopted by Computer Programming Students." With several publications in journals, conferences and book chapters, her scientific interest are Self-regulation and Co-regulation of Learning, Formative Assessment, Distance Learning, Technology Enhanced Learning, Teaching Training, and research and intervention methodologies. She collaborated in the organization of events (conferences, seminars, workshops). She organizes a special track in international conference.

**Marília dos Santos Rua** has a PhD in Health Sciences, a Master's Degree in Nursing Sciences, and is currently Professor at the School of Health of the University of Aveiro (EESUA). Areas of scientific interest: Family health, Education, Supervision.

**Elisa Saraiva** was born in Oporto – Portugal in 1974. She studied Chemisty in University of Aveiro where successefully completed a degree in Chemestry. After she continued her studies in University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro where she completed a master degree in teaching (Physics and Chemistry) and a Ph.D. in Physical Sciences. She has worked as physics and chemistry teacher at secondary school in Portugal for 20 years. She also has experience as trainer in teacher training programs (initial and continuous).

# Index

#### A

Action Research 110, 149, 194, 196, 208, 215, 231, 235, 250, 257, 308, 320, 322 Active Learning Strategy 369 Assessment Feedback 44-45, 47-49, 56, 58-60, 62 Assessment Process 44-47, 49-50, 52, 58, 60-61, 358 Assessment Tasks 44-47, 49, 53, 58, 60

# C

Case Study 77, 110, 124-125, 189, 211, 217, 229-231, 234-235, 271, 274, 277, 279, 286, 301-303, 321, 325, 365, 369 Chemistry Teaching 324, 326, 334 Classroom 1-14, 23, 33, 45, 48-51, 53, 56, 58, 60-62, 64-67, 60, 74, 76, 82, 00, 104, 106, 100, 114, 116, 125

- 67, 69, 74, 76-83, 90, 104, 106, 109-114, 116, 125, 128, 146, 148-149, 151, 154-156, 159, 161-162, 164, 169-171, 173-174, 176-180, 185, 187-189, 198, 203, 209, 212-214, 216, 229, 231-237, 243, 246-250, 252-254, 256-267, 269-271, 273-275, 280-291, 299, 301-304, 307, 309-311, 319-320, 322-323, 326-328, 334-337, 342, 345-347, 353, 356, 358-361, 363, 365-368, 370, 373-374
- Classroom Activities 109, 111, 113, 176, 212
- Classroom Environment 45, 109-110, 114, 116, 173, 185, 246, 282
- Classroom Practice 1, 5, 44, 170, 173, 214, 247, 249, 289
- Cluster Analysis 252, 256, 260, 263, 266, 273, 301
- Collaborative Work 11, 49, 51, 53, 130, 144, 148, 152-153, 158-159, 167, 176, 246
- Communication in Class 211
- Complexity 12, 48, 67, 75, 118-119, 127-129, 133, 144, 175, 233, 252-254, 256, 334, 341, 357
- Concept Migration 340, 346
- Concept of Concept 109, 115, 120
- Conceptual Fields 81, 109-110, 113

- Content Analysis 130, 132, 145, 252-253, 255-256, 260, 262-263, 266, 268-269, 271, 273-274, 277, 281-282, 285, 287-288, 290-291, 300-301, 303, 305-306, 311, 320-321, 328, 337, 364, 369
- Continuing Education 80, 375
- Conversion between Registers 336
- Critical Thinking 47, 215, 356-358, 360, 369, 371, 374

# D

- Data Analysis 103, 198, 219-220, 226, 253, 255-256, 260, 264, 273-274, 280, 288, 291, 328
- Data Collection 5, 9, 65, 81, 123, 149, 154, 156, 158, 162, 164-165, 192, 194, 196, 207, 231, 248, 252, 272-273, 290, 309, 320, 327, 345-346, 350, 361
- Data Organization 211, 252
- Decision Making 64-66, 74, 77-78, 235, 289-290, 302-304, 356
- Decision-Making 9, 77-79, 192, 194, 206, 213, 250, 263-264, 267, 300-301, 303-304, 357, 360, 366-367, 370-371
- Didactics 105, 111, 149, 176-177, 195-196, 206, 235, 255, 259
- Discourse Record 340, 345-346
- Distance Learning 191, 193-194

## E

- E-Learning 47-48, 191
- Embodiment 340
- - 269-271, 273-284, 286-288, 294, 300, 303, 323
- Epistemic Scaffold 269, 280, 282
- Epistemic Valorization 269
- Experimental Work 78, 158, 160-161, 169, 231, 234, 236, 247, 250, 278, 288, 290, 298, 303, 323
- Explicit Relationships 109, 116-117
- External Representations 211, 326, 345

## F

Feedback 42, 44-50, 56-63, 165, 191-193, 195-198, 203-207, 209, 212, 268, 360, 367, 370, 375 Formative Assessment 44, 46, 48, 50-53, 56, 58, 62-63, 191, 194-195, 206, 208-209, 268

Formative Situations 87, 126, 128, 130, 132, 140, 144

# Η

Hetero-Directed PD 148, 152, 162, 167 High School 49, 61, 77, 286, 302, 324, 327, 336-338 Higher Education 15-16, 33, 46, 61-64, 67-68, 70, 77-78, 126, 128, 145, 148, 192, 195, 208-209, 250, 257, 263, 267-268, 287, 290, 292, 295-296, 300-303, 306, 356-357, 370 Holistic Character 253, 256

# I

Initial Teacher Training 11, 110, 112, 124, 173-174, 182, 185, 187-188 Interactions between Material Systems 81, 91, 102 Interactions in Classroom 64 Internship 11, 173-174, 176, 179, 186-187, 189

# J

Joint Activity 340-341, 346, 350

# L

LACSG 127, 306, 308

- Language System 211
- Learning 1, 4, 11, 14, 39, 44-50, 52-53, 55-58, 60-69, 71, 74-79, 82-85, 87, 102, 104-107, 109-110, 112, 114-115, 118-120, 124-125, 127-129, 144-146, 148-150, 152-153, 155, 162, 166-168, 170-172, 174-175, 189-197, 204, 206, 208-209, 212-215, 217-218, 220, 224, 226-235, 237, 239, 242-244, 246-250, 253, 255-261, 263-264, 266-271, 273, 280, 283-286, 289-290, 300-308, 312, 320-323, 325-327, 334-338, 340-341, 344, 347-354, 357-360, 365, 367-375
- Linear Combination 130-132, 139-140, 142, 144, 306-309, 311-321

# Μ

Mathematics Education 77-78, 228-230, 284, 286, 305, 322-323, 337, 353

Meaningful Learning 102, 110, 324, 327, 334-336, 338, 358, 369 Mediator Artifacts 274 Metaphor 340, 342, 348, 351 Museum Research Agenda 340

# N

Nurse Educator 356, 360 Nursing Education 356-358, 360, 364, 369, 371-372, 374-375 Nursing Student 356

# 0

Open Science 1-3, 13

# Р

- Pedagogical Competencies 356, 364
- Pedagogical Practice 64-66, 111, 174, 209, 360
- Potential Relationships 109, 115, 117-118, 123
- Problem Solving 63, 215, 226, 228-229, 242, 307, 311, 319-320, 338
- Procept 309, 315
- Productive Engagement 158-159, 231, 234-235, 247, 249, 261, 299, 302
- Professional Development 1-3, 6-7, 11, 13-14, 62, 66, 76, 78, 80, 103, 106-107, 109, 124, 126, 128, 144-146, 148-149, 151-153, 155, 158, 162-163, 165, 167-173, 175, 179, 189-192, 194-195, 209, 211-218, 222, 225-235, 243, 247-250, 254-255, 264, 266, 270, 272-273, 283-284, 286-290, 300, 303, 340-342, 348, 350, 353, 356-357, 359, 364, 371, 374
- Professional Knowledge 81, 149-150, 152-153, 166, 169-171, 173-174, 215, 219, 226, 230, 270-271, 283, 289, 334

# Q

Qualitative Analysis Software 236, 291, 311

- Quality of Student Learning 148-149, 155, 166, 231
- Quality of Teaching Practices 3, 81, 148-150, 166-167, 215, 231-232, 234

## R

Reflecting Own Practices 126

- Reflection 11-12, 44, 47, 56, 58, 61, 65-67, 76, 115, 118-119, 123, 126-128, 130, 136, 144-146, 152, 155, 161-162, 165, 167-168, 170, 173-177, 187-190, 194-196, 208-209, 213-215, 217, 223, 226, 234-235, 243-244, 246-248, 254, 258-259, 268, 289, 296, 306, 308, 311, 320-322, 325, 327, 336, 340, 342-343, 348-349, 352, 354, 359, 364, 366, 368, 371
- Reflective Teacher 78, 168, 174, 250, 266, 303
- Research Methods 62, 77, 111, 249, 253, 266, 284, 302, 321, 336
- Research Results 81, 149-151, 166, 305-306, 320-321 **Research Tools 253**

### S

- Science Communication 340-342, 344-346, 348-350, 352-354
- Science Education Research 1, 4, 110, 151, 286
- Science Museum 340-341, 350-353
- Science Teaching 3, 13-14, 77-79, 81, 106, 125, 150, 153-154, 168-170, 229, 249-250, 265, 284-286, 301-303, 306, 322, 352-355
- Science, Technology, Society, Environment (STSE) 114
- Scientific Language 324, 334
- Self-Directed PD 148, 152, 155, 167
- Self-Reflection 10, 66, 191, 193, 211-213, 215-216, 218-219, 226-228, 233, 243, 289, 348
- Semiotics 324-326, 338
- Software NVivo 311, 324
- Student Autonomy 242, 269
- Student Engagement 47, 63, 232, 236, 242, 250, 270, 369
- Student Epistemic Practices 287
- Student Learning 14, 44, 48, 62, 66, 78, 148-149, 155, 162, 166-167, 170, 172, 211, 231-232, 237, 242-243, 248, 253, 257, 283, 285, 306, 322-323, 352 Student Reactions 64, 273, 310
- Supervision 168, 174, 176-177, 187, 189-190, 196, 283
- Systems of Linear Equations 130-132, 134-138, 140,
  - 143, 307, 309, 311-315, 317

### Т

- Task 6, 9, 24-25, 27-28, 30, 34-35, 48-49, 51-53, 55-58, 60, 64, 66-67, 71, 74-76, 80-82, 92, 96, 104-105, 117, 132-136, 140, 144, 156, 159-164, 174, 176-177, 179, 186-187, 189, 196, 200, 204, 207, 217-220, 222-224, 231-233, 235-237, 239-244, 246-247, 249, 259, 261, 263, 270-271, 275, 280-283, 292-293, 296-298, 319, 324, 328, 341, 346, 358
- Task Design 231-232
- Teacher as Researcher 126
- Teacher Beliefs 189, 287, 302
- Teacher Education 1, 3, 6, 13-14, 62, 78-79, 102, 106-107, 124-125, 146, 168-175, 189-191, 208-209, 228-230, 250, 266-268, 286, 302-304, 323, 354, 374-375
- **Teacher Epistemic Actions 269**
- Teacher Mediation 4, 12, 14, 44-45, 49, 56, 59-60, 80, 123, 156, 163-165, 170, 209, 231, 235, 249, 253, 256-258, 261-262, 267, 269-271, 273-274, 276-277, 279, 281-282, 285-286, 289, 302
- **Teacher Pedagogical Decisions 287**
- Teacher Professional Development 6, 124, 128, 168-171, 214, 228, 230, 250, 287-288
- Teacher Training 11, 80, 83, 103, 105, 110, 112, 124-125, 151, 168, 173-177, 182, 185, 187-188, 190-191, 208, 250, 286, 335
- Teacher, Researcher 126
- Teaching 2-7, 10-11, 13-16, 32, 44-49, 59-67, 69, 71, 76-87, 103-107, 109-112, 114-115, 118, 120, 124-126, 128-130, 135, 139, 141, 144-146, 148-156, 158-160, 162-172, 174, 176-177, 186, 189-190, 192, 194-198, 206-209, 211-217, 219-220, 224, 226-232, 234-235, 243, 246, 248-250, 253-261, 263-270, 272-273, 280, 283-293, 299-312, 319-328, 334-338, 352-355, 357-360, 365, 369-375
- Teaching and Learning 4, 14, 46, 61, 65-66, 77, 81-82, 84-85, 104-106, 109, 112, 115, 120, 124-125, 128-129, 145-146, 152, 170, 174, 192, 194, 206, 209, 211-212, 215, 217, 220, 226, 228, 232, 235, 246, 253, 255-256, 259, 261, 263-264, 266, 268-270, 273, 280, 283, 289, 305-306, 308, 320-325, 335-337, 354, 358-359, 370
- Teaching Practices 1-3, 6, 10-11, 13, 15, 45, 60-61, 64, 67, 80-81, 83, 85-86, 103, 105-106, 112, 126, 128-130, 141, 144-145, 148-156, 158-159, 162-170, 174, 194, 211-213, 215-216, 228-229, 231-232, 234, 249, 257, 261, 283, 286, 289-290, 301, 305-306, 310, 320, 353, 357, 359, 371

**Teaching Practices Patterns 166** 

Teaching Sequence 126, 129-130, 139, 301, 305, 308-309, 311, 320

- Technology 1-2, 5, 13, 15, 78-81, 107, 114, 126, 128, 130, 139-141, 146, 168, 170, 197, 209-210, 229, 249-250, 252, 255-256, 265-266, 268, 287-290, 302-304, 307, 309, 317, 319-323, 352-354
- Tool 1-2, 4-5, 8-9, 11-12, 44-45, 53, 61-62, 66-67, 76, 80-81, 85, 87, 103, 105, 126, 131, 144, 148-149, 154-155, 159, 162, 167, 173, 176, 179, 187-188, 191, 194, 207, 211-213, 216-217, 227, 232-233, 248, 252, 255-256, 260, 265, 280, 282, 288-290, 307, 328, 338, 340, 342, 344, 348-351, 356, 359, 371
- Tutoring 191, 196, 207

#### U

Unexpected Events 64-65

## V

Visual Representations 79, 211-215, 217-223, 225-229, 234, 237, 239, 248, 255-256, 259-262, 267, 272, 286, 337

#### W

Water-Energy Relationships 114, 121-122 Written Registers 219, 221